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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: My name is

          3  Christine Quinn. I'm Chair of the Health Committee.

          4  We're having a hearing today, one, on two separate

          5  things. Let me start first with the part that will

          6  be the quicker part.

          7                 We are going to be voting today on an

          8  intro that we had a hearing on a few months ago,

          9  498-A, and there's been a follow-up from the

         10  hearings, discussions on the bill. It's a local law

         11  to amend the Administrative Code in relation to

         12  boarding kennels, businesses or establishments.

         13                 Just to refresh people's memory, the

         14  issue was brought to the Council that when one takes

         15  their dog to a kennel or a similar facility, you're

         16  not required, though many facilities do do this, to

         17  prove that your dog has gotten all the vaccinations

         18  and shots that they should get. So, what ends up

         19  happening is somebody who may have in fact taken

         20  proper veterinary care of their dogs, takes their

         21  dogs to the establishment and they come in contact,

         22  unknowingly, with other dogs that have not been

         23  vaccinized (sic), which can cause dogs to get ill

         24  and die.

         25                 So we're now passing voting on this
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          2  bill, which if you remember from the hearing, is a

          3  pretty common sense idea that just says, and

          4  actually I take my dog to a kennel facility

          5  sometimes, and before she could go there I had to

          6  show, she had to be four-months-old and I had to

          7  show that she had all her shots and then she was an

          8  approved puppy, so-to-speak.

          9                 We are now saying basically, this is

         10  a very basic description, that's the standard, that

         11  for kennels and other facilities that keep dogs,

         12  that the owners have to provide the kennel with

         13  proof that the dog has gotten all their required

         14  vaccinations, and that the kennel has to keep a

         15  record of that, which will then be expected by the

         16  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene so there

         17  will be a way to really monitor what establishments

         18  are acting in a lawful manner and which ones are not

         19  potentially putting dogs' health at risk.

         20                 Okay, great, as soon as the clerk

         21  gets here, we're going to take the roll on 498-A.

         22  And I want to thank Laura Popa, who got kind of

         23  pulled into the last minute on this bill, for her

         24  help on this matter very, very much.

         25                 There was another bill we were
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          2  intentionally going to vote on today, the dangerous

          3  dog bill, we're continuing to negotiate with the

          4  Administration with the help of the ASPCA and others

          5  around those issues and we will not be voting on

          6  that matter today.

          7                 Before we move onto the oversight

          8  topic, I want to introduce everyone to Ann Thomas,

          9  the new Counsel to the Health Committee, who we're

         10  very excited to have with us, so everyone will get

         11  to know her.

         12                 Again, I really want to thank Laura

         13  for all of her work on this.

         14                 And then the second topic we're

         15  having today is an oversight hearing on hospital

         16  closures. And I've been joined by Council Member

         17  Tracy Boyland, who will be back in a second, by

         18  Council Member Al Vann, Kendall Stewart and Yvette

         19  Clarke, who are all from Brooklyn, which I think is

         20  significant, given the topic.

         21                 The oversight is on hospital

         22  closures, absolutely all from Central Brooklyn. And

         23  we wanted to have an oversight hearing here today

         24  because we've seen in the press and many reports

         25  recently of hospitals that have had to close down
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          2  and ones that are seriously considering closure.

          3                 There is the threat with St. Mary's

          4  Hospital, the loss of Bayley Seton on Staten Island,

          5  and certainly many others. And although our goal

          6  today isn't particularly to single out one hospital

          7  or one umbrella hospital network, our goal here

          8  today is to, one, get a handle on what hospitals are

          9  in jeopardy and why, and what does that jeopardy do

         10  to the communities that they are in and the people

         11  that they serve, and what does that jeopardy or

         12  closure do to the worker of that institution, many

         13  of whom come from the same neighborhoods in which

         14  the facilities serve.

         15                 And in addition to getting

         16  information on what the status is at the moment,

         17  which communities are most impacted, though I think

         18  Central Brooklyn is very clearly at the top of the

         19  list in that area, also we hope that this hearing

         20  will help us come up with a plan of action by which

         21  the Council can, one, be more supportive of the

         22  hospital networks in our City, and in cases where we

         23  cannot prevent closure, a course of action for what

         24  else we need to do to make sure that those

         25  neighborhoods get the health care infrastructure
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          2  that they need, and that there is also a plan for

          3  those workers to continue doing the health care work

          4  that they are so very committed to.

          5                 The clerk has arrived, we're going to

          6  take the roll. We will just wait for Council Member

          7  Vann to come back and then we will be in quorum

          8  again.

          9                 I don't know if any of my colleagues

         10  want to make any opening remarks on the oversight

         11  topic? Okay, Council Member Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'd like to

         13  thank Chairwoman Quinn for her quick and decisive

         14  action on this issue. I'd say maybe about a year and

         15  a half ago I had to address this issue with respect

         16  to the Brooklyn Hospital in its Caledonia's site,

         17  and at that time the writing was somewhat on the

         18  wall about what was happening in Central Brooklyn

         19  with respect to our hospital facilities, and we've

         20  sort of seen a rapid decline in certain institutions

         21  within that Central Brooklyn area that I think there

         22  were indicators out there about but for whatever

         23  reason the coming together and the strategy for

         24  addressing it was not dealt with.

         25                 Certainly when Caledonia had to
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          2  reconfigure itself, they were talking about total

          3  closure with nothing left in the community and that

          4  was a hard-fought struggle to keep an urgent care

          5  center there. I think it's important that we look at

          6  every single institution, particularly in the outer

          7  boroughs that are affiliated with some of the bigger

          8  institutions in the City, to look at what the issue

          9  is around their continued success in our

         10  communities. The health care disparities are there.

         11  I find it amazing that in any community of color

         12  that an OBGYN Department can be taken out. I mean,

         13  people are still having children. And that seems to

         14  be the modus operandi that ultimately brings about

         15  the demise of these institutions.

         16                 So, we need to do a very quick

         17  assessment of what's taking place and then, you

         18  know, really get that dialogue going because I'm

         19  very concerned.

         20                 Right now, Kings County Hospital and

         21  Downstate, you know, are basically the institutions

         22  that are at least holding their own. There are

         23  others that need to get support from us in order to

         24  meet the needs of Central Brooklyn in particular.

         25  But we'd probably need to take a look at what's
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          2  happening in Queens and the other outer boroughs as

          3  well. So, having said that, Madam Chair, again, I

          4  just want to thank you for acting so decisively.

          5                 I can tell you that many of my

          6  neighbors worked at St. Mary's and just walking

          7  around the neighborhood there's a gloom. There's a

          8  gloom. And they're calling out for help. Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. And

         11  just before anymore opening statements, we're going

         12  to have the clerk call the roll.

         13                 I do want to thank my colleagues from

         14  the Brooklyn Delegation, because they've certainly

         15  been extraordinary outspoken about the impact of

         16  this on their borough and their neighborhoods.

         17                 So, if we can start off by the clerk

         18  calling the roll on 498-A.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote stands at

          4  four in the affirmative.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Council Member Boyland.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

          9  Madam Chair.

         10                 I think this is, probably I was

         11  conveying with some of the State members as they

         12  have had conversations in regards to the same issue,

         13  and they are working very diligently on the State

         14  level to really deal with the issue of St. Mary's

         15  and the closure. As St. Mary's is in my district,

         16  this is obviously a very, very close concern, and

         17  there have been several closed doors and open-door

         18  rallies that have really taken place in regards to

         19  this issue.

         20                 But when you really get down to it,

         21  in having conversations with St. Vincent's, 1199,

         22  with the Executive Director of St. Mary's and the

         23  list goes on, one of the obvious concerns is the

         24  magnitude and the population in which St. Mary's

         25  serves and the numbers in which St. Mary's
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          2  represents versus what St. Vincent expects them to

          3  represent.

          4                 And although we'd like to have an

          5  issue that really balls down to health care and

          6  services in the community, I think some of the

          7  entities are just really looking at this as a

          8  dollars and cents matter.

          9                 If you look at the position in which

         10  St. Mary's is in and where they're located, with

         11  Brookdale on one side, Kings County and SUNY

         12  Downstate on the other side, and Interfaith in a

         13  close bordering vicinity, there is an obvious need

         14  for St. Mary's. And as we have had conversations

         15  with the Department of Health, we've had

         16  conversations with the Speaker of the State

         17  Legislature, we are really still -- have not given

         18  up hope that there will be a closure of St. Mary's.

         19                 St. Vincent is saying basically that

         20  if there is an influx of dollars into the system,

         21  that you will be able to maintain the status.

         22                 Every day I see something negative

         23  about St. Mary's on the news, but I refuse to

         24  believe that this hospital is not needed within our

         25  community.
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          2                 As was spoken earlier by the Council

          3  member, there are several amount of jobs that St.

          4  Mary provides, as well as the services that they

          5  provide.

          6                 Last year when we had the

          7  conversation, or early this year, about the closing

          8  of the OBGYN, we saw a downward spiral, and the

          9  conversation began about the tertiary care into the

         10  mica facilities and the mica kind of outreach that

         11  was going on. But we still think that there is some

         12  kind of conversation and there is some dialogue that

         13  is happening, and St. Vincent is willing, as we had

         14  I guess a ten-way conference call last week, they're

         15  still willing to look at the decision that

         16  Kingsbrook Jewish has made that they will step in.

         17  We just need to really figure out how we go about

         18  finding the dollars.

         19                 So, I still have hope. I still think

         20  there is an opportunity for us to work to keep St.

         21  Mary's a thriving part of our community.

         22                 And Madam Chair, I want to thank you,

         23  because as soon as the rally happened and the

         24  conversation happened, when I got on the phone you

         25  were already set to have a hearing.
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          2                 So, I commend you on your vision and

          3  your really dedication to helping the community and

          4  the health care.

          5                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          7  much. We're just going to allow Council Member Sears

          8  the opportunity to vote on 498-A.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I vote aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote now

         12  stands at five in the affirmative, none in the

         13  negative and no abstentions, and is still open.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I want to hear

         15  some opening remarks from Council Member Stewart,

         16  and then we're going to call the first panel.

         17                 Susan Waltman, David Speltz, and Dr.

         18  Ron Gade, that will be the first of the three panels

         19  that are scheduled, and then obviously other people

         20  have signed up as well.

         21                 Dr. Council Member Stewart.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 About a month ago I visited St.

         25  Mary's and visited also the area in which St. Mary's
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          2  is located. It means then we have to take stock of

          3  what is happening here, because if St. Mary's was to

          4  be closed, it means there will be a loss of medical

          5  care, which means it will be a spike or even an

          6  increase in the infant mortality. We know that this

          7  area basically considered the epicenter for

          8  diabetes, it also means that we're going to lose

          9  jobs, which by extension means that we will have a

         10  definite problem with quality of life issues, which

         11  also affects the quality of the community and by

         12  extension the quality of life in New York City

         13  itself.

         14                 Madam Chair, this is something that

         15  we ought not to allow to happen. We have to put

         16  things in place to make sure that this community

         17  stays vibrant, and whatever we can do we should

         18  really seek out to get help from either the state or

         19  the federal government to do something about this

         20  issue.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         23  much. And thank you, Councilman Stewart, for being

         24  so outspoken on this issue.

         25                 So, I want to call up the first
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          2  panel, who I mentioned. And the second panel, so

          3  folks know to be ready, is Cora Mahr, two hospital

          4  workers and Carol Pittman, and then the third panel

          5  that's scheduled is Judy Wessler, Reverend Delk and

          6  Ngozi Moses. There might be other witnesses, but

          7  those are the three panels that have been scheduled.

          8                 So, if Susan, David and Ron would

          9  come on up, and if for some reason any of the folks

         10  on the second and third panel aren't here and anyone

         11  knows that they are not coming, if they could just

         12  let Josh know that, please? Thanks.

         13                 Just if folks would identify

         14  themselves for the record before they start their

         15  testimony.

         16                 And Susan, why don't you kick us off.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 MS. WALTMAN: I'm Susan Waltman. I'm

         19  General Counsel, Senior Vice President --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Susan, when the

         21  light is off, the mic is on. Then, you know, we're

         22  going to have an addition to this panel, of Robert

         23  Chaloner.

         24                 Oh, you're in place of Ron? Okay,

         25  fine.
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          2                 Go ahead.

          3                 MS. WALTMAN: Hi. Good afternoon.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Is your mic on?

          5                 MS. WALTMAN: Yes, the green light is

          6  on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. Move it

          8  closer to you maybe?

          9                 MS. WALTMAN: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Because I can't

         11  hear you.

         12                 MS. WALTMAN: Good afternoon. Thank

         13  you very much for the opportunity to appear here

         14  today. I am Susan Waltman, Senior Vice President and

         15  General Counsel at the Greater New York Hospital

         16  Association.

         17                 The Association represents 250

         18  hospitals and long-term care facilities concentrated

         19  in New York City but located throughout the region,

         20  and all of our members are charitable organizations

         21  or publicly sponsored institutions.

         22                 The issue of hospital closures is a

         23  critical one for all of us. It is also one that is

         24  one of the most difficult and sometimes the most

         25  emotional issues facing the health care system
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          2  today. Hospital closures are caused, in the most

          3  part, for the most part, as you know, by the severe

          4  financial pressures facing hospitals in New York

          5  throughout New York State, and I just do want to say

          6  that no one has worked harder to keep these

          7  hospitals open than those who govern and manage the

          8  institutions, as well as their supporters, those who

          9  work every day to support and strengthen the health

         10  care system, which does include Greater New York

         11  Hospital Association, the State of New York, local

         12  officials, our workforce, and most particularly 1199

         13  SEIU, and in the end, most importantly, the

         14  communities that we serve.

         15                 We've been plagued by financial

         16  problems for many years and they are taking their

         17  toll.

         18                 We've had a lot of closures, as you

         19  know, and many more threatened. We are very

         20  supportive of mechanisms that can be put in place in

         21  order to strengthen the system. I think we have to

         22  look at the long term, because we have been trying

         23  to help hospitals on a weekly basis meet their

         24  payrolls. So there really needs to be a larger

         25  review of the problems facing the health care
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          2  system.

          3                 We have been supportive of any

          4  mechanism in the end, however, that will support

          5  access to high quality health care. We need more

          6  tools. We need more resources, financial and

          7  otherwise, and we need your support and we need the

          8  support of the communities that we serve in order to

          9  do this.

         10                 For the purposes of today I'd just

         11  like to review several areas briefly.

         12                 I view myself somewhat as setting the

         13  scene, but please don't worry about asking me tough

         14  questions in the end.

         15                 I'd like to review the financial

         16  pressures facing the hospitals, give a little bit of

         17  an overview of the closures from a general

         18  perspective, the tolls that we have and that we

         19  need, and a brief profile of the Commission that has

         20  been established to look at health care facilities.

         21                 I won't go in a lot of detail, but

         22  the testimony we've submitted go through a picture

         23  of the financial problems that face our hospitals,

         24  and it really is attributable to four factors. We

         25  are significantly under-funded. There is a very high
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          2  level of profitability experienced by those who do

          3  business with us. We call them derivative

          4  industries, those who make money off of us while we

          5  lose a lot of money. We are also affected by niche

          6  providers who siphon off the best cases, the most

          7  profitable cases, perhaps, and we are facing

          8  ever-spiraling costs.

          9                 And just running through those very

         10  generally, we have been under-funded for years, and

         11  we have a chart on page three that shows the losses

         12  that hospitals in New York State have experienced

         13  over the years, showing that we lose, we lost in

         14  2003 $300 million, while hospitals elsewhere in the

         15  country have actually experienced positive operating

         16  margins.

         17                 It's attributable to a number of

         18  factors, some of which are occasioned by recent

         19  decisions by Medicare, which has recently made a

         20  decision which will remove $900 million from our New

         21  York City regions hospitals over the next ten years.

         22  We have also, I think our greatest losses, however,

         23  are experienced, by the fact that the City, the

         24  State reimbursement system deregulated a number of

         25  years ago. And as the private payors then proceeded
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          2  to negotiate with hospitals, they used the previous

          3  regulated rates as the ceiling for negotiations, and

          4  negotiated ever lower and lower rates of

          5  reimbursement.

          6                 We also have a chart in our testimony

          7  that demonstrates how during deregulation we were at

          8  least paid our cost by private payors meaning health

          9  plans, for example, and since deregulation we are

         10  being paid much less than our costs, in terms of

         11  operations.

         12                 We have seen, however, that this

         13  particular circumstance is a private payors, and

         14  negotiating lower and lower rates with us, has

         15  occasioned their making ever-increasing profits off

         16  of us.

         17                 We also have a chart in there that

         18  indicates that the health plans in New York State

         19  make roughly a billion and a half dollars off us

         20  while we actually lose $300 million. So, it does

         21  demonstrate where the funding is going, where the

         22  money is going. There are also other industries that

         23  derive significant profits from us. The Med Surge

         24  companies, the pharmaceutical companies, and others

         25  as well.
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          2                 The third factor, as we indicated in

          3  terms of affecting our financial picture is the

          4  proliferation of what we call niche providers,

          5  ambulatory surgery centers that are established,

          6  physician office-based surgery, for example, that's

          7  undertaken. And what occurs there is, as the

          8  reimbursement systems change, they siphon off the

          9  better procedures, and they leave the hospitals with

         10  perhaps what's perceived as the losing cases,

         11  so-to-speak, the higher cost procedures, as well as

         12  with responsibilities of covering all the community

         13  benefits, emergency care, trauma services, and other

         14  community benefits that really are our

         15  responsibilities.

         16                 We therefore ask for the State of New

         17  York to impose a moratorium on the proliferation of

         18  these niche providers.

         19                 And the final factor is one that

         20  really relates to some of the issues that you all

         21  raised in your initial remarks, and that has to do

         22  with increases in costs that we experience, as we

         23  get ever-reduced revenues, the costs keeping going

         24  up. The cost of pharmaceuticals, the cost of

         25  information technology, which has really become
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          2  essential to improving quality efficiency. The

          3  nursing shortage has taken its toll. We have

          4  significant vacancy rates so that we have to pay for

          5  agency nurses and overtime, and the finally issue

          6  that I enumerate in there is the cost of

          7  professional liability insurance, which has

          8  increased quite rapidly. I know there is a great

          9  debate as to the cause, but the fact is that we have

         10  seen very significant increases in professional

         11  liability insurance in New York State. And it also

         12  has affected access to services and in particular OB

         13  and GYN as individual physicians choose to leave the

         14  practice of OB and undertake certain procedures for

         15  that very reason.

         16                 And all of these factors have

         17  converged to force a very significant financial

         18  problem faced by many of our hospitals, and that has

         19  lead to most of the closures that we have

         20  experienced in the downstate region.

         21                 We started the process of creating a

         22  working list of hospital closures. That's an

         23  appendix. That's an appendix to this testimony. And

         24  I think that as we created that, it surprised even

         25  those who were the most knowledgeable about the
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          2  health care system in terms of how long it was.

          3                 Our observation, having been involved

          4  in a lot of the attempts to rescue hospitals, is

          5  that there is kind of a prelude period, a period

          6  before that closure that I will describe in general

          7  terms, different from hospital to hospital. There's

          8  usually a very long period of financial struggle. It

          9  is marked by a period where the hospital really is

         10  pursuing vigorous efforts to enhance revenue, reduce

         11  costs, restructure, development new lines of service

         12  so-to-speak, in order to stay afloat.

         13                 There is usually a long period where

         14  the hospital worries about making payroll from

         15  week-to-week, funding is professional liability

         16  insurance, pension plans and paying its other

         17  creditors as well.

         18                 Greater New York for one together

         19  with 1199 and SEIU have engaged in very extensive

         20  interventions, so-to-speak, to try to help hospitals

         21  as they go through this period by trying to enhance

         22  reimbursement for the hospital, sometimes one-time

         23  cash infusions in order to help them at a particular

         24  point in time, and it is something where I know, Ken

         25  Raske, from Greater New York, will spend a very
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          2  significant amount of time with a lot of hospitals,

          3  in order to help rescue them.

          4                 What is also occurring during that

          5  time frame is the public obviously becomes aware of

          6  what's going on. Some people will choose to seek

          7  care, other places, sometimes staff and other

          8  members of the workforce will look for jobs

          9  elsewhere and creditors obviously will sometimes

         10  insist on their paying down payables that the

         11  hospital pay more and more towards the receivables

         12  owed to the creditors.

         13                 We see, therefore, that by the time a

         14  hospital actually closes, there is usually a drop in

         15  the services that are available that has occurred

         16  very gradually. There is a drop in demand, sometimes

         17  people go elsewhere if they have that opportunity.

         18  There is usually a loss of some of the best members

         19  of the workforce, if that's possible, and then we

         20  find obviously when the place does eventually find

         21  that it must close, the hospital does try to address

         22  issues of access but by that point there has already

         23  been a very significant drop, as I've indicated, in

         24  demand, as well as the supply.

         25                 So, it is not just at the point of
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          2  closure, I do point out that there is an access

          3  problem, but it's rather a process that occurs as

          4  the financial deterioration occurs.

          5                 I will comment on the role of the

          6  media with respect to closures.

          7                 It seems to be a favorite pastime of

          8  some members of the media to develop lists of

          9  hospitals that should close, could close, and what

         10  that does in our view is accelerate the spiral

         11  that's being, you know, the downward spiral that's

         12  being experienced by particular hospitals.

         13                 I emphasize there is no such list of

         14  hospitals that are targeted to close. There is a

         15  commission that's been created that I'll just

         16  mention briefly, but there is no list, there is no

         17  official list, but every time a list is published by

         18  the media, what happens is exactly what I mentioned,

         19  those who can seek care will go someplace because

         20  they think the hospital is closing or quality is

         21  affected. More members of the workforce may go

         22  elsewhere and creditors come down even harder in

         23  terms of that particular hospital. So, it becomes a

         24  self-fulfilling prophecy as the media does that.

         25                 We think that's irresponsible and we
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          2  really would urge the City Council members to work

          3  with us to ask that the media not do that, because I

          4  think it damages the very institutions that we all

          5  want to protect.

          6                 As I indicated, we definitely need

          7  tools to right-size, restructure, strengthen the

          8  health care system. Greater New York, I will say, is

          9  very supportive of any mechanism that does

         10  restructure the system in order to ensure access,

         11  high-quality care for all of our communities.

         12                 We have been supportive for more

         13  financing, and indeed in 2004 we joined with 1199

         14  SEIU and requested the State of New York to provide

         15  funding in order that we could restructure the

         16  system and implement health care IT on the basis

         17  that those were two applications that probably have

         18  the best shot to get us back on a sound financial

         19  footing in the longrun. They also happen to be two

         20  applications of financing that most underserved

         21  communities cannot afford, the basic capital, NIT,

         22  health care information technology, which would make

         23  them more efficient and more able to move into the

         24  future.

         25                 We're pleased that the State of New
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          2  York did pass what's referred to as Heal New York, a

          3  capital grant program that will provide a billion

          4  dollars for the health care system over the next

          5  four years for restructuring and improvements in the

          6  system.

          7                 I just caution you, there are several

          8  limits on its availability and it's applicability.

          9                 It will take a long time for the

         10  program to be developed, we are told, in order to

         11  develop the appropriate process for distributing the

         12  money. So the earliest any award could go out would

         13  be the end of this year, perhaps the end of the

         14  first quarter 2006. It is limited to capital use.

         15  So, while it will be helpful for purchasing and

         16  implementing information technology or certain

         17  construction, it can't be used for the operating

         18  cost that are really the types of cost that many of

         19  our troubled institutions can't cover. So, it's

         20  limited in that respect.

         21                 There are however three potential

         22  sources for covering operating costs, which I list

         23  here. They are limited in their size. They are

         24  dwarfed by the need, and one of them which is

         25  reliant on a federal waiver is still under

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  negotiation. So, I just want to say in the interest

          3  of completeness, there are some opportunities to get

          4  operating costs covered, but they are limited and

          5  not actually realized yet.

          6                 I'd like to make a comment on the

          7  Commission.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Susan, I might

          9  just ask you to sum up a little bit, because we'll

         10  have a lot of questions once this panel finishes.

         11                 MS. WALTMAN: Yes. I do mention,

         12  because I don't think that we can really have this

         13  conversation without mentioning the role of the

         14  Commission, which is the Commission on Health Care

         15  Facilities from the 21st Century. I've given a

         16  background of the structure of it. People call it

         17  the"Closing Commission," that is not really what

         18  it's intended to do, although it may actually make

         19  recommendations for closing. It is absolutely

         20  intended to align the supply of health care with the

         21  need for health care. And it may be, if it does its

         22  job, our best opportunity to have the right

         23  distribution of resources in the State.

         24                 And, so, I've outlined what the

         25  process is there, and their reliance on the regional
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          2  advisory committee, so that there can be input from

          3  local officials, from local communities, as that

          4  gets established.

          5                 It has a long and thoughtful time

          6  line, which is 18 months. So, it's a long time

          7  before they will come forward with their

          8  recommendations, but that may be the best

          9  opportunity, as I've indicated for the system to

         10  realign supply and need.

         11                 We know there's apprehension about

         12  these issues.

         13                 We will, we offered to work with the

         14  City Council members of the community in order to

         15  ensure that we do have a healthy health care system.

         16  That's what we're about and it's something that we

         17  do every day and we hope that we will be able to

         18  forge in the long-run a healthier health care

         19  system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         21                 Go right ahead. You could just drag

         22  that right over.

         23                 MR. SPELTZ: Madam Chair, members of

         24  the Committee, good afternoon. I'm David Speltz, I'm

         25  Chief Executive Officer of St. Vincent's Catholic
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          2  Medical Centers. And thank you for the opportunity

          3  to speak with you today, regarding the challenging

          4  health care environment in which we find ourselves.

          5                 I'd like to give you some background

          6  on the system, as well as details on the closure of

          7  St. Mary's Hospital in Brooklyn.

          8                 St. Vincent's Catholic Medical

          9  Centers consist of seven hospitals located in

         10  Manhattan, Queens, Brooklyn and Staten Island, four

         11  skilled nursing facilities and a systemwide home

         12  care service.

         13                 In 2004 we generated $1.5 billion in

         14  revenues and yet we still lost $93 million.

         15                 The system serves 600,000 New Yorkers

         16  annually, generating more than 92,000 inpatient

         17  discharges and more than 1.1 million outpatient

         18  visits. Saint Vincent Catholic Medical Centers is

         19  the largest private provider of EMS services in the

         20  New York Fire Department's 9/11 service, and we are

         21  the 12th largest employer in the City of New York.

         22                 Health Care New York finds itself in

         23  an extraordinarily challenging time. Across the

         24  country we've seen the delivery of health care

         25  shifting out of inpatient settings, and into

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  community ambulatory settings.

          3                 Length of stay is decreasing across

          4  New York and is predicted to continue to shorten,

          5  affecting overall census figures and the need for

          6  hospital beds.

          7                 According to the Department of

          8  Health, the percentage of beds occupied in 2003, 61

          9  percent, is down from 80 percent just 15 years ago,

         10  nearer to 90 percent occupancy is the optimum

         11  number.

         12                 In New York there's been a focus on

         13  maintaining large inpatient facilities, despite the

         14  shift in health care. St. Vincent's Catholic Medical

         15  Centers is taking the lead in realigning and

         16  restructuring itself to adapt to these changes and

         17  the delivery of health care and to preserve its

         18  mission and presence in New York City.

         19                 In early 2004, Speltz & Weis LLC, a

         20  hospital turnaround firm of which I was a principal,

         21  was retained to revitalize the Saint Vincent

         22  Catholic Medical Centers system.

         23                 Management, with the assistance of

         24  the board and medical staff developed turnaround

         25  initiatives to achieve $157 million improvement on
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          2  an annual basis. Two-thirds of those improvements

          3  were to be through initiatives and business

          4  operations and the balance through improved

          5  efficiencies by various cost reductions. Certain

          6  allocations were allocated to improvements of nurse

          7  staffing and other initiatives to protect the safety

          8  of the patients and the staff.

          9                 As part of the turnaround

         10  initiatives, we structured three hospitals in

         11  Queens, closing St. Joseph's, in order to strengthen

         12  the remaining two hospitals, Mary Immaculate

         13  Hospital, and St. John's Queens Hospitals.

         14                 Our analysis revealed that St.

         15  Joseph's would a capital investment of at least $40

         16  million in order to update the aged facility.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Now, is St. John's

         18  of Queens a new Saint? Or is that just the name of

         19  the hospital?

         20                 MR. SPELTZ: I'm sorry?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That was just a

         22  little joke. I was saying whether Saint John of

         23  Queens was a new Saint, get it?

         24                 MR. SPELTZ: I got it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Trying to lighten
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          2  it up. All right.

          3                 MR. SPELTZ: Thank you.

          4                 Again, the St. John's, it required a

          5  $40 million investment to upgrade the plant to bring

          6  it where it should be to ensure it's safe and also

          7  to be competitive.

          8                 At that time the average daily census

          9  was about 65 in the acute care units. The Emergency

         10  Department received about 13,000 visits annually,

         11  compared to more than three to four times that

         12  number in other nearby hospitals.

         13                 We made the decision to focus our

         14  investments in time and money in Mary Immaculate and

         15  St. John's Queens Hospital, since they served a

         16  higher community need.

         17                 We also made a commitment to

         18  strengthen the services at St. Vincent's Manhattan

         19  and Staten Island.

         20                 When the turnaround plan was

         21  announced in Fiscal 2004, we stated that we would

         22  explore the options for St. Mary's Hospital,

         23  including the transfer of St. Mary's to another

         24  facility.

         25                 Over the past three years, St.
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          2  Vincent's Catholic Medical Center subsidized St.

          3  Mary's for $62 million to cover operating losses and

          4  capital needs.

          5                 These are losses that the system

          6  cannot afford to sustain.

          7                 In December of 2004, St. Vincent's

          8  Catholic Medical Center signed a letter of intent

          9  with Kingsbrook Health Care System to negotiate for

         10  the full transfer of the operation of St. Mary's to

         11  Kingsbrook Health Care System. Kingsbrook, after

         12  nearly nine months of diligence, terminated

         13  negotiations for the full transfer of April of this

         14  year, when it became evident that the facility

         15  continue to need at least 10 to 20 million annually

         16  to cover operating losses and capital needs.

         17                 After conducting a careful and

         18  thorough analysis, Kingsbrook concluded that the

         19  current configuration of programs and services to

         20  St. Mary's is not financially liable, given its

         21  significant capital needs and projected operating

         22  losses.  The required level of state subsidies does

         23  not appear to be available.

         24                 No other source of financial support

         25  has been identified to fund St. Mary's continued
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          2  losses.

          3                 On June 1st, after considerable

          4  deliberation, the Board of St. Vincent's Catholic

          5  Medical Centers regretfully concluded that there was

          6  no other option but to close St. Mary's Hospital.

          7  The Board authorized management to submit a closure

          8  plan to the State, to the New York State Department

          9  of Health.

         10                 At the same time, we're continuing

         11  discussions with Kingsbrook Healthcare Systems,

         12  elected officials and community leaders regarding

         13  the potential transfer of ambulatory services from

         14  St. Mary's to Kingsbrook, prior to the closure, to

         15  meet continuing urgent care and outpatient care

         16  needs of central Brooklyn residents.

         17                 In particular, we are working with

         18  Kingsbrook to obtain funding for the development of

         19  the 24-hour urgent care center to meet many of the

         20  community needs currently accommodated through St.

         21  Mary's emergency room.

         22                 I'd like to briefly tell you where we

         23  are today as a system. We have made significant

         24  progress in achieving our turnaround.

         25                 In the first quarter of this year the
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          2  system showed a $19 million improvement over the

          3  same quarter last year. More than 100 million of the

          4  157 million improvements identified in the

          5  turnaround plan have been realized with a balance

          6  due to be completed by year end.

          7                 However, in late 2004, the system's

          8  management became aware that the system's audited

          9  financial reflecting prior years of accounts

         10  receivable, particularly those in 2003, were

         11  overstated by $60 million, due to uncollectable bad

         12  debts and deeper discounts from insurers than had

         13  been anticipated.

         14                 Therefore, the original projections

         15  on which the 157 million turnaround plan was placed

         16  had to be adjusted, and the system now needs to

         17  accomplish in excess of a $200 million turnaround.

         18                 Last week we announced further

         19  restructuring plans that will help us reach the $200

         20  million turnaround, including the closure of high

         21  cost, low-volume programs which have significant

         22  operating losses.

         23                 St. Vincent's Catholic Medical

         24  Centers will work with the appropriate unions, with

         25  its dedicated physicians, employees, to assist in
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          2  identifying internal system job placements, and in

          3  any other way possible during this difficult

          4  transition.

          5                 As Governor Pataki convenes new

          6  Health Care Facilities Closing Commission, St.

          7  Vincent's will be seeking funds to cover the cost of

          8  structuring and downsizing that it is already

          9  undertaking.

         10                 Also, in keeping with my comments

         11  earlier regarding the shift in care to ambulatory

         12  settings, we also will support Kingsbrook as it

         13  seeks to access restructuring funding or other state

         14  funding to preserve outpatient and urgent health

         15  care services in the St. Mary's community.

         16                 We certainly would appreciate the

         17  Council's support in these endeavors.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  speak and I welcome any questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you have copies

         21  of your testimony?

         22                 MR. SPELTZ: Yes, I do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The Sergeant will

         24  come and get them. Could you just leave it right

         25  there? Thank you.
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          2                 MR. CHALONER: Chairperson Quinn, and

          3  members of the New York City Council, I'm Bob

          4  Chaloner, the President and CEO of Cabrini Medical

          5  Center, located on East 19th Street.

          6                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          7  speak with you this afternoon. I represent one of

          8  the smaller hospitals that has been mentioned in the

          9  media, and as you are reviewing the troubled events

         10  that are unfolding in our City health care system,

         11  I'm pleased to be able to provide another

         12  perspective.

         13                 Cabrini Medical Center has been

         14  proudly serving its community for over 110 years

         15  when St. Francis Cabrini had a mission to serve the

         16  Lower East Side communities of Manhattan, the

         17  particular focus on the City's underserved immigrant

         18  communities.

         19                 During the past 110 years we have

         20  proudly served New York and offered care for all who

         21  need us, regardless of their ability to pay or

         22  socioeconomic status. We have a proud heritage of

         23  dealing with compassion, especially for the frail

         24  elderly, the immigrants and those who live nearby.

         25                 In recent years we have been on the
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          2  front line of serving the gay and lesbian

          3  communities and the HIV epidemic. This commitment

          4  continues with our LGBT Initiative aimed at

          5  providing even more sensitive care to the lesbian

          6  and gay communities in our surrounding

          7  neighborhoods.

          8                 We've developed state-of-the-art

          9  cardiac imaging services, which are now actively

         10  utilized to find ways of detecting heart disease in

         11  the very earliest stages before it progresses to

         12  cardiac failure.

         13                 Through our affiliations with the

         14  Puerto Rican medical schools, we have trained and

         15  now have the largest group of Spanish-speaking

         16  physicians available to serve our growing Latino

         17  population.

         18                 We have a superb hospice program for

         19  people at the end of life, and a real concern for

         20  the frail and confused elderly and have been at the

         21  forefront of care for people with dementia.

         22                 We were on the front line in every

         23  one of the recent public health crises in the past

         24  few years, including 9/11, when we lost one of our

         25  ambulances and ambulance drivers. The blackout,
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          2  building explosion on 19th Street.

          3                 We're directly across the street from

          4  the New York City Police Academy and the 13th

          5  Precinct, and we've continued to open our doors

          6  whenever they have had health needs.

          7                 And we've been responsible and

          8  proactive participants in all City, State and

          9  federal programs designed to protect and ensure

         10  health care capacity and programs in the event of

         11  another terrorist or biochemical disaster.

         12                 I'm also proud to say that we employ

         13  1,300 extremely dedicated New Yorkers, who exhibit

         14  the highest level of health care professionalism and

         15  enjoy extremely collaborative working relationships

         16  with our union partners, 1199, the New York State

         17  Nurses' Association, the current president is a

         18  Cabrini nurse, SSOBA.

         19                 For these 1,300 employees, we provide

         20  a good and decent income, benefits, access to health

         21  care and a safe work environment. With the decline

         22  in industrial and other low-skill jobs in New York,

         23  most of our workers would be unable to find

         24  equivalent employment to provide for their families

         25  in a similar industry outside of health care.
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          2                 As you know, there is a great deal of

          3  talk about closing hospitals, and unfortunately

          4  virtually every New York Hospital is in severe

          5  financial distress.

          6                 Cabrini Medical Center has been

          7  mentioned as one of the hospitals that may close. It

          8  is no secret that we, like all of our neighboring

          9  facilities, have had financial problems and that we

         10  are small relative to the other hospitals in

         11  Manhattan.

         12                 But let me assure the Council that

         13  we've been working extremely hard to stabilize our

         14  financial condition with very little outside

         15  support.

         16                 We keep our employees paid, we

         17  maintain our facility, and we are paying our

         18  vendors, despite a tough economic climate.

         19                 With regard to our size, we believe

         20  that it is exactly our small size that makes us

         21  worth saving.

         22                 We can provide care to the

         23  non-English speaker, the confused elderly person,

         24  the family who is dealing with a dying relative, and

         25  a small intimate and neighborhood environment.
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          2                 Our overhead is low and our costs

          3  relative to the bigger organizations is also low, so

          4  that we can focus on the services that many of the

          5  larger research-oriented hospitals may be less

          6  interested in.

          7                 The logic of closing the smaller,

          8  lower-overhead hospitals, because they are going to

          9  save the system money escapes me. While we do not

         10  provide organ transplants, we can provide the same

         11  appendectomy with the same clinical results for a

         12  fraction of the cost compared to many larger

         13  institutions.

         14                 Our rates are among the lowest in the

         15  City. I ask the question, how does forcing people to

         16  go to a larger, more expensive organization, farther

         17  removed from their homes and communities, save

         18  money?

         19                 So, in answer to the question will

         20  Cabrini Medical Center close, I'd like to say to you

         21  emphatically that our sponsors, our Board, our

         22  management and our co-workers will do everything

         23  possible to ensure that this will not happen.

         24                 When Mother Cabrini founded Cabrini

         25  Medical Center 110 years ago, she was compelled by
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          2  her faith to serve the underserved, despite

          3  naysayers who told her we do not need another

          4  hospital in New York.

          5                 One-hundred and ten years later we

          6  are facing the same naysayers and are asking them,

          7  are all the health care needs of New Yorkers being

          8  met.

          9                 Are our Latino and other immigrant

         10  communities are being served as well as possible?

         11                 Are the frail elderly, sick and

         12  dying, finding providers who will visit them in

         13  their homes?

         14                 Do gay and lesbian people find a

         15  health care system that is always sensitive to their

         16  needs?

         17                 Can all New Yorkers ignore the

         18  potential threats of bioterrorism and not worry

         19  about the capacity of their health care system.

         20                 At Cabrini we still think the answer

         21  to these questions is an emphatic no.

         22                 Until all the needs are met, we want

         23  to be a part of the solution and given a chance to

         24  serve.

         25                 Closing hospitals is a simple answer,
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          2  but is it the right answer? We say, no, it is not.

          3                 Our hospitals and our health care

          4  workers deserve a chance to be a part of the

          5  solution and allowed to continue to serve the people

          6  of New York.

          7                 We appreciate your time and we

          8  welcome your questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         10                 I'm going to hold my questions for a

         11  couple seconds, and I'm going to allow some of the

         12  Brooklyn members who have some of the most pressing

         13  issues to ask questions first. But then we'll come

         14  back around Cabrini and Greater New York. Don't you

         15  worry.

         16                 I just want to say, we turned the air

         17  down because it was a little cold, but if you get

         18  uncomfortable, just let us know. It's off, so if you

         19  get uncomfortable let us know, we'll turn it back

         20  on.

         21                 Council Member Boyland.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you for

         23  that executive decision. I appreciate that.

         24                 Thank you, David and Susan, I think

         25  your testimony, and also from Cabrini Hospital, is
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          2  very compelling.

          3                 Just a few questions in regards to

          4  St. Mary's, if you don't mind.

          5                 When we look at St. Mary's, we

          6  obviously realize that their St. Mary's is the child

          7  of the mother, which is St. Vincent's, as we

          8  consider it in Brooklyn. And the concern obviously

          9  is, after having some discussion and talking to a

         10  number of people and having almost a conversation

         11  every day in regards to St. Mary's is that St.

         12  Mary's has incurred some of the fall-back of St.

         13  Vincent's greater picture of debt, and they may be

         14  also part of the cause, but if we could just

         15  breakdown some of the concerns of the financial

         16  package of St. Mary's without looking at St.

         17  Vincent's or the other entities, that would be more

         18  helpful, in terms of how we deal with Kingsbrook

         19  Jewish and how we deal with the transfer of St.

         20  Mary's to any entity that is willing to come in and

         21  to step in and to come out.

         22                 So, can we first start by breaking

         23  down the operating expense and the capital expense

         24  of just St. Mary's without attaching the bill system

         25  and the capital needs of all of the St. Vincent

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  entities?

          3                 MR. SPELTZ: We have done that and

          4  would be pleased to share it with anybody who would

          5  want to take the time to look at it.

          6                 The debt on St. Mary's is almost paid

          7  off. In fact, it's paid off as of this June, which

          8  makes it particularly sad in the fact that the

          9  losses and the cash requirements for this hospital

         10  have nothing to do with debt service. They have to

         11  do with the inability to generate enough income to

         12  cover its own salaries, wages, supplies and, of

         13  course, on top of that, money just to pay for its

         14  own upkeep.

         15                 The shortfall that we had identified

         16  was between $10- to $20 million per year, and, quite

         17  frankly, to our astonishment, after many months of

         18  due diligence with independent review by Kingsbrook

         19  professionals, they came up with the same number.

         20                 And, so, in order to ensure that St.

         21  Mary's continues the way it is now, somebody would

         22  need to find $10- to $20 million per year, probably

         23  for a very, very long time, until we have a

         24  restructuring of health care in this country, to

         25  maintain it.
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          2                 Let me add on more thing. The

          3  question that many of us had in why we are still

          4  committed to working with Kingsbrook and others is

          5  that, it may be hard to, a bit hard to say this, but

          6  the beds may be less of an issue than the ambulatory

          7  care.

          8                 The census, the average census in the

          9  Central Brooklyn area right now is about 53 percent.

         10  If you look at all of the hospitals nearby, they're

         11  all languishing when it comes around to census.

         12                 What really we feel the priorities

         13  need to be is where we think New York is going

         14  anywhere, and that is a focus and an investment on

         15  ambulatory care.

         16                 Doctors being available in offices,

         17  doctors being available in clinics, nurses being

         18  available in clinics, and for that reason, we

         19  continue to work with Kingsbrook and other

         20  interested parties to assure that that part of

         21  Brooklyn continues to be properly served.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: In regards to

         23  beds versus ambulatory care --

         24                 MR. SPELTZ: I'm sorry, to what?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: In regards to
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          2  the statement made about the actual beds of St.

          3  Mary's, obviously the conversation -- beds -- the

          4  conversation really moved around its location, and

          5  in having the conversation, one of our answers

          6  probably, we considered, would be to improve the

          7  beds, I guess 30 to 40 more beds a day to help St.

          8  Mary's and I think that was probably an in-house

          9  conversation that we had with Kingsborough in terms

         10  of the outreach and then OYB -- the GYN closed, and

         11  then everything else started to spiral downward.

         12                 You're saying it's not so much beds,

         13  it's more ambulatory care?

         14                 MR. SPELTZ: I'm talking about

         15  community need.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.

         17                 MR. SPELTZ: I mean, right now, if you

         18  look at the number of surgeries on the average, we

         19  do eight a week. That's nothing. It should be 80 a

         20  week. And, you know, it used to be 30. But, you

         21  know, I think, again, as you listen to Susan's

         22  testimony, the direction that, and I think why this

         23  Commission, the Governor appointed this Commission,

         24  is that New York is still, it's quite a bit behind I

         25  think other parts of the country in which inpatient
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          2  care simply is not a growth area, ambulatory care

          3  is. The length of time at which a patient stays in a

          4  bed is, I'm sure it's going to shorten considerably

          5  the number of patients that are going to be admitted

          6  to beds as opposed to being cared for in ambulatory,

          7  really good ambulatory sites. I mean, that's just

          8  going to take place.

          9                 If you look at St. Vincent's, 75

         10  percent of our revenues, this is kind of a surrogate

         11  way of looking at how we provide health care, 75

         12  percent of our revenue comes from inpatient care and

         13  only 25 percent comes from outpatient care. That's

         14  reflective of what happens in New York. It's going

         15  to reverse itself. It should be right now 50/50, and

         16  I honestly believe that we're going to see a further

         17  decline in the use of beds over time, as medical

         18  practice changes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I completely

         20  agree. After having conversations with the State,

         21  the time spent in the hospital is obviously an

         22  issue. And I thank Susan for bringing out the Heal

         23  New York Plan, that we would hope, we hope that

         24  would kick in as early as possible.

         25                 MR. SPELTZ: We hope so.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: But one of

          3  the major issues obviously is to find some funding,

          4  and it's interesting that you said eight versus 80.

          5  In talking about the capital plans for St. Mary's,

          6  obviously there is always a need for materials, a

          7  need for CAT scans, a need for things to help

          8  emergency room flow. We're willing to actually

          9  challenge the billing system and employment first

         10  and then begin to come back and see if that is a

         11  mechanism that will help us get people in the

         12  hospital, and I just wanted to know if in

         13  conversations with St. Vincent's is there an

         14  opportunity for us to at least tackle the $8 million

         15  question, versus the $20 million question, the

         16  expense versus the capital.

         17                 MR. SPELTZ: I'm not sure I

         18  understand. Could you repeat the question?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I'm thinking

         20  that while we're figuring out what would help St.

         21  Mary's, that we're looking at both the expense side

         22  and the capital side. When I look at expense side, I

         23  mean payroll, salary, equipment, things to help the

         24  hospital maintain. Also, on the capital side, I'm

         25  thinking it's not just the aesthetics but things

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  that, materials that help people come into the

          3  emergency room, the actual machinery that helps St.

          4  Mary's, Brookdale, Kings County, Kingsbrook stay

          5  alive. If we had to tackle this, which way would we

          6  go first is one of my concerns?

          7                 MR. SPELTZ: Well, can I address the

          8  expense side first, and then let me talk about

          9  billing.

         10                 We have spent last year completely

         11  rebuilding the billing system, and I think we're in

         12  pretty good shape now. The real issue with billing

         13  is that we don't get paid what it costs, and I think

         14  Susan just addressed that. You know where the money

         15  is going, it's going to very profitable insurers and

         16  they're not passing it back to the providers.

         17                 In terms of expenses --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I just ask a

         19  question? When you said you spent the past year

         20  rebuilding the billing system?

         21                 MR. SPELTZ: Billing. Business

         22  operations, ensuring that once we bill we get paid

         23  properly, that we're paid for what we --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How is it changed?

         25  What is it now?
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          2                 MR. SPELTZ: We can go into a long,

          3  long discussion on that, but I will tell you it

          4  basically comes down to starting at the front end to

          5  make sure that when patients come in, that the data

          6  that we receive from them is accurate, so that the

          7  bill can be sent out. If they are without insurance,

          8  assisting them in applying for Medicaid if they're

          9  eligible.

         10                 Ensuring that the bill that goes out

         11  is proper and accurate. Ensuring that when the

         12  insurers reject the bill, which they often do,

         13  because that's their nature, that we fight it, and

         14  that's really what it's all about. And it's far more

         15  complicated than that but it is, of the $160 million

         16  turnaround for St. Vincent's that we put together

         17  last April, a year ago April, $100 million of that

         18  was ensuring that we were paid fairly for what we

         19  were providing, including renegotiations with the

         20  insurers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: St. Vincent

         22  did the billing for St. Mary's.

         23                 MR. SPELTZ: Well, we have a

         24  consolidated billing system for all of St.

         25  Vincent's, and the answer is that everybody comes
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          2  together. It's a far more effective way of actually

          3  getting the billing out. At least it should be. The

          4  answer is yes.

          5                 But you know, we have St. Mary's

          6  people who are in it, and they're in the same

          7  building.

          8                 Let me address the question of

          9  expense, because I heard can we cut expenses more. I

         10  would not want to be part of that because I think

         11  we've cut them too much. I think we have -- I think

         12  we're short staffed in areas. I don't think we spend

         13  enough money on our maintenance of our hospitals,

         14  and enough cuts took place within St. Vincent's.

         15                 We made the decision when we

         16  discovered that the auditor reports were incorrect,

         17  quite frankly, and that we had a $60 million

         18  overstatement of revenues of prior years and we had

         19  to go back and rethink the turnaround plan and move

         20  it up in excess of $200 million, but there was no

         21  way we could do that by more expense cuts. And that

         22  what we had to do was to go into a major

         23  restructuring question, and that is what programs,

         24  what hospitals could stand on their own, and what

         25  could not stand on their own, and those that could
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          2  not stand on their own, no matter what intervention

          3  we made, we needed to be -- we really had to stop

          4  subsidizing them. And the only reason I say that is

          5  there was no money to subsidize them. Every

          6  facility, every hospital, every nursing home, every

          7  one of them within St. Vincents cannot even support

          8  themselves right now. And it is a major project just

          9  to make sure that each one of them can stand on

         10  their own feet.

         11                 St. Mary's, unfortunately, was the

         12  one that was the deepest. And I might add, Queens

         13  and Brooklyn, between the two areas, are probably

         14  the most problematic for us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Is St.

         16  Vincent and Manhattan standing on its own?

         17                 MR. SPELTZ: No.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: They're

         19  having the same problems?

         20                 MR. SPELTZ: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: When you say St.

         22  Vincent's in Manhattan, are you referring to St.

         23  Clair's and St. Vincent's?

         24                 MR. SPELTZ: No. I'm referring to

         25  downtown on 12th Street.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

          3                 There's two in my district, because

          4  they have, St. Clair's is under their auspices.

          5                 Okay, thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm going to turn

          7  it back over to Madam Chair, and then I'll come back

          8  to the second round.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: All right. Council

         10  Member Clarke.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair. And thank you, all, for your testimony.

         13  I find all of this intriguing, because as I stated

         14  in my opening statement, I kind of saw the writing

         15  on the wall very early on with the Brooklyn

         16  Hospital, and the Caledonia site in my district. And

         17  I just wanted to say that I think there are a couple

         18  of phenomena occurring simultaneously when the

         19  concern about the press and their depiction of

         20  what's going on came out, a lot of it actually

         21  becomes a self-fulfilling prophecy, because not only

         22  is it that the press grabs onto it, but of course,

         23  the public that would utilize these institutions

         24  grab onto it and they usually grab onto it before

         25  the press.
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          2                 When the word came out that St.

          3  Mary's was going to stop delivering babies, that

          4  sent a horrifying, horrifying signal throughout all

          5  of Central Brooklyn. We then knew that that hospital

          6  was dead, that it was dead. Because like the

          7  community like the one where St. Mary's is located,

          8  if we can't deliver babies, we can't deliver health

          9  care. And we all have to take some responsibility

         10  for what is taking place here with these hospitals.

         11  Quite frankly, I believe that there is a brain drain

         12  going into Manhattan, and a lot of people don't want

         13  to address these issues, but I know for a fact that

         14  if we were to build some incentives in the hospital

         15  system process for doctors and Allied Health Care

         16  professionals to do some of the specialties that

         17  we're asking people to leave Brooklyn and Queens to

         18  get done in Manhattan, we could make this thing

         19  work.

         20                 That's very simplistic, of course.

         21  But there are certainly a number of things that

         22  needed to be looked at with respect to how house

         23  care is being distributed in the City of New York,

         24  and if you look at it, there is a gravity center

         25  that is moving to Manhattan right now, perhaps not
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          2  in your area where St. Vincent's is located, but I

          3  know that with some of the affiliation agreements

          4  that are being put together, particularly with NYU

          5  and Columbia Presbyterian, we're finding that our

          6  people are having to travel much further and further

          7  to get quality health care.

          8                 Let me also say that when you start

          9  talking about audited financials, management

         10  efficiencies, a lot of flags have been up with the

         11  institutions for a very long time that were not

         12  addressed by the Board of Directors of these

         13  institutions, and that has put our district and our

         14  communities at peril. A lot of mismanagement going

         15  on within these institutions, money flying here and

         16  there, people's personal expense accounts. So, we

         17  can't just say that it's because of poor people

         18  being served and that they don't have insurance and

         19  this and that and the other, everyone has to take

         20  responsibility here, and I'm not hearing that at

         21  this hearing. I'm hearing a lot of fluff.

         22                 The reality is if we begin to dig

         23  into what's really happening here, everyone has to

         24  take ownership for the mismanagement and the

         25  abandonment of these communities.
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          2                 I think that the Greater New York

          3  Hospital Association has a very important role here.

          4  These are state-regulated institutions. HHC has been

          5  able to come back, and they have been able to build

          6  flagship institutions in our communities. They need

          7  support. I can't imagine what the health care of

          8  Central Brooklyn is going to look like if everyone

          9  has to go to Kings County Hospital at the same time.

         10  And that's where we're heading right now. That's

         11  where we're heading right now. The Greater New York

         12  Hospital Association has been known historically for

         13  being on the cutting edge, and I'm saying that the

         14  recommendations that are here, and the concerns that

         15  are being raised, there needs to be a real reality

         16  check about what's going on. And we know in the

         17  outer boroughs that there's a brain drain going on,

         18  that there's no incentive for doctors to stay in our

         19  communities any longer, nor the Allied health care

         20  professionals that support them, and that we can

         21  build a model that will provide quality care in the

         22  outer boroughs. But those guys got to stop being

         23  greedy out there.

         24                 Why aren't they outsourcing some of

         25  the specialties into our communities where we know
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          2  there are diabetes? We should be the best in

          3  diabetes in Central Brooklyn, as far as I'm

          4  concerned in curing that.

          5                 I mean, the answers exist, but

          6  there's some realities that people don't want to

          7  address here, and those realities have to do with

          8  management, and what has been allowed to happen

          9  within these voluntaries, quite frankly, in really

         10  draining money out of these institutions, both from

         11  a personal perspective and from a poor management

         12  perspective.

         13                 So, I hope that, you know, you know

         14  that we know that there are some serious issues that

         15  are not coming out to light and transparent here,

         16  and we're very concerned in Central Brooklyn that

         17  there's a Domino effect going on, and most of it

         18  means that our people are going to have to travel

         19  from Brooklyn into Manhattan in order to receive

         20  services. There needs to be a way to redistribute

         21  the type of health care service that is appropriate

         22  for communities like the one that I serve, like the

         23  one that Tracy Boyland serves, and the people of

         24  Central Brooklyn. We have a lot of really critical

         25  health care imperatives. We should be trying to
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          2  figure out how we're going to bring the best care

          3  for HIV/AIDS into Central Brooklyn where there's the

          4  rapid spread faster than in Manhattan right now.

          5                 Those are specialties. Those are

          6  areas that can generate, that can generate dollars.

          7  How do we create centers of excellence for

          8  diagnoses? I mean, where is the innovation here.

          9  Everybody is talking bottom line but if we get

         10  innovative and creative enough, we can recreate a

         11  paradigm for health care that should be the model

         12  for the City and the State and the Nation.

         13                 So, I'm challenging you. This is a

         14  diatrob just to really challenge you. Because I know

         15  what's going on out there. I investigated it very

         16  deeply with Caladonia, and, you know, a lot of folks

         17  see these hospitals closing but they don't know

         18  underneath all of it some of the challenges and some

         19  of the mismanagement that led to that demise, the

         20  demise of a lot of these institutions, along the

         21  way. There were mistakes made, and until people look

         22  at those mistakes and deal with them, instead of

         23  saying, well, we're losing, we're hemorrhaging,

         24  we're this, we're that, that we're not going to

         25  learn from this because health care must return to
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          2  Central Brooklyn, and it must return in a way that

          3  is sensitive to the needs of the people there, very

          4  huge health disparities going on, and we need your

          5  talent and your expertise. We need that ability and

          6  we need to attract new medical students, we need to

          7  track all of those specialists right into Central

          8  Brooklyn.

          9                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It was a fairly

         11  long question. No, that's okay.

         12                 MR. SPELTZ: I'm not sure what the

         13  question is, but I would like to make just a couple

         14  observations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would be

         16  great.

         17                 MR. SPELTZ: For 15 years I have spent

         18  my career on working to save hospitals, not to close

         19  them, and about five years ago, and most of those

         20  hospitals that we had to save were in deep trouble

         21  because of management or governance, okay? Five

         22  years ago, I realized something had changed, and

         23  that we had moved away from hospitals that were in

         24  distress because of management, governance issues,

         25  to something that was far more profound, it was a
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          2  social issue.

          3                 The social issue is something that we

          4  in this country, and I must say that New York is

          5  ahead of the rest of the country has not grabbed

          6  onto.

          7                 When we look at St. Mary's, there

          8  were management issues. There were. There was no

          9  doubt about that.

         10                 I think we have corrected those.

         11  That's what we do, we correct the management issues.

         12                 We have corrected many of the Board

         13  issues. And you know, when you go surgery, or you

         14  want some care, sometimes you want a second opinion?

         15  The second opinion on St. Mary's was Kingsbrook, and

         16  when they did their analysis they said, you know,

         17  their professionals said no matter how you run it,

         18  we still need ten to twenty million dollars.

         19                 So, what I'm going to suggest is that

         20  rather than focusing on management problems, because

         21  I don't think they're there anymore, I think the

         22  problem are social issues. I think it is a funding

         23  issue. I think that in the State of New York, that

         24  it is wrong that the HMOs love New York because it

         25  is the most profitable State in the United States to
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          2  operate in because they keep most of the money and

          3  they pass a little on to those of us who are trying

          4  to provide care.

          5                 And I know that the Council can't

          6  change that overnight, but I would suggest that as

          7  we talk about this, we focus on the real problem,

          8  it's a social problem, and it is how money that is

          9  either taken through taxes or through premiums is

         10  distributed to those who need it, and I would say

         11  right now we have a terrible problem, and we need to

         12  focus on that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         14  Boyland.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Just a

         16  follow-up question. Are we still in negotiations?

         17  Has the door still been left open for Kingsbrook to

         18  have conversation in regards to it taking over St.

         19  Mary's?

         20                 MR. SPELTZ: Yeah. What they have said

         21  is that they need a $40 million subsidy over the

         22  next four years, to take it over as it exists, and

         23  in the absence of that, and I'm not optimistic about

         24  that, in the absence of that, we need something

         25  less, or they need something less in order to assure
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          2  that we can do the transfer of the ambulatory care.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. Because

          4  after speaking with Linda, we want to try to work

          5  with you so we can move St. Mary's out of doom into

          6  situation where it's positive. So, I think Speaker

          7  Shelly Silver and Assemblyman Boyland, and Senator

          8  Kevin Parker are beginning to work to try to have

          9  that dialogue with you. So the door is not closed as

         10  of yet.

         11                 MR. SPELTZ: No, it's not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: One of the things

         15  that I was thinking about when the three of you were

         16  testifying, and just in general I've given thought

         17  to, there's certainly been a trend lately of

         18  hospitals, small hospitals, becoming part of, you

         19  know, bigger umbrella networks, and that seemed to

         20  be a roaring trend for awhile that seemed to have

         21  slowed down so much there were some notable

         22  non-successes, non-successes with that model.

         23                 Now, one could logically make a case,

         24  one that model might be a financial benefit for

         25  hospitals, it might be helpful in overcoming some of
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          2  the problems you guys have outlined. One could also

          3  logically make the case for not doing that as a way

          4  to also become financially stable, and in some ways

          5  I think that's the model that was outlined in the

          6  Cabrini testimony. And I've thought about it a lot

          7  and I have not completely come to a conclusion

          8  because you see hospitals that are part of an

          9  umbrella, and even umbrellas that are incredibly

         10  well known and highly regarded not doing well

         11  financially. And you see smaller hospitals, who have

         12  decided to stand alone, not doing well financially.

         13  What is, from the three of you, your reaction? What

         14  is your take on that? Is there one way that is

         15  better to go that can lead us to greater stability

         16  or is it not really -- or is the answer actually not

         17  in either of the models?

         18                 MR. CHALONER: May I start? I've spent

         19  my career all over the United States dealing with

         20  this question, and I'm going to summarize it the way

         21  I see it, and that is that the advantage of systems

         22  that come together, the reason they do that, okay?

         23  The advice from the consultants, the attorneys, is

         24  really for two or three reasons: One is the

         25  economies of scale that they obtain in the back
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          2  office functions.

          3                 The second argument is that they will

          4  have greater access to capital, which is probably in

          5  New York it's the second most important problem, but

          6  outside of New York it's the most important problem.

          7  The lenders prefer to see size.

          8                 And the third is the strategic

          9  presence of a system that, quite, frankly, is

         10  designed to take market share away from others, and

         11  that is what it's designed for, and that is based on

         12  branding, it's based on moving physicians throughout

         13  the system.

         14                 I might add that many of our

         15  specialists in Manhattan are also our specialists in

         16  Queens or Brooklyn, and why is it that the divorce

         17  rate is the same as the national divorce rate? It's

         18  50 percent. Half the time they don't work. And if

         19  they don't work it's partly because the reason for

         20  doing that was really aimed, the most that they

         21  accomplished was maybe saving some money on

         22  economies of scale. Oh, I would add one more thing,

         23  and that is negotiating better rates from insurers.

         24                 But what fails is that the insurers

         25  won't give them better rates. They chop up, they
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          2  won't acknowledge it. And that happened at St.

          3  Vincent's, they won't. They won't.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you know if

          5  that happened at any of the other networks?

          6                 MR. CHALONER: Because none of us are

          7  allowed to talk to each other about that I don't

          8  know.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, okay.

         10                 Susan, do you know?

         11                 MS. WALTMAN: It's certain

         12  geographical areas it works better than in other

         13  geographical areas.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you know

         15  whether at the other networks that they didn't see

         16  them as one singular building entity?

         17                 MS. WALTMAN: No, they treat them --

         18  they definitely try to divide and conquer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: They do.

         20                 MS. WALTMAN: And they do it

         21  successfully, as you can see from the numbers in the

         22  chart and how much money they make off of us and how

         23  much we lose.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sorry. I didn't

         25  know that.
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          2                 MR. SPELTZ: They fail because they

          3  never should have come together. The ones that fail.

          4  They fail because the ones were not implemented

          5  properly more likely or strategically did not make

          6  any sense. And there are those hospitals that should

          7  never participate in a system, and it may be that we

          8  have one next door to here.

          9                 There are those who create niche and

         10  they stay that way and they do it very well.

         11                 MR. CHALONER: Yes, I can just speak

         12  from the perspective of one of the few remaining

         13  stand-alone hospitals in New York.

         14                 We are affiliated, from a teaching

         15  perspective, with Mount Sinai. We have not merged

         16  governance or taken advantage of some of the back

         17  office issues.

         18                 It's a struggle. Cabrini has

         19  struggled with the issue. We've done a very good job

         20  of reducing and keeping our overhead low, relative

         21  to some of the other systems.

         22                 All of the big systems are struggling

         23  financially right now as well, so I don't think in

         24  New York certainly there is a clear advantage either

         25  way.
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          2                 Cabrini's approach is to maintain a

          3  certain amount of its independence, and to be able

          4  to try and take advantage of its size and it's a

          5  model that we think is worth moving forward with.

          6  Certainly it's an alternative model, but we do

          7  expect to see tighter clinical affiliation with a

          8  larger system as we move forward in the next couple

          9  of years.

         10                 Now, one of the things that got

         11  raised either in the testimony or in the question

         12  and answer was the decrease, the census numbers and

         13  also the decreasing length of stay and the potential

         14  for further decrease in length of stay. And

         15  certainly that data is relevant to the number of

         16  hospital beds one needs. But it's hard not to also

         17  think about that data in connection with hospital

         18  closures in a slightly cynical way, because it's

         19  hard -- you know, one hears, you know, not

         20  infrequently, horror stories of somebody who should

         21  have got admitted but didn't get admitted, and, you

         22  know, should have stayed longer but didn't get

         23  longer, you know, the state had to pass, you know,

         24  no drive-through mammography legislation, and, you

         25  know, prohibition against sending women home too
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          2  early after they've had a baby. So, one could also

          3  argue, well, since the stays are down, there's more

          4  preventive care and more primary care. But it's hard

          5  not to hear that information, and from my

          6  perspective be slightly cynical about it, and wonder

          7  whether there are root causes behind the decreasing

          8  census and length of stays that are problematic and

          9  that we should therefore then be resisting.

         10                 And I'm not saying that those root

         11  causes are not also -- don't also go back to the

         12  insurance companies and the HMOs that we've been

         13  describing. So, if you could respond to that?

         14                 MR. CHALONER: I will respond to that,

         15  too.

         16                 There is a researcher physician named

         17  Dr. John Wenberg at Dartmouth Hitchcock, and he has

         18  spent his career researching health care outcomes

         19  compared to the resources that went into taking care

         20  of a patient. And he started and continues looking

         21  at the extent to which a population is better or

         22  worse by virtue of being admitted more to a hospital

         23  versus receiving ambulatory care. And he can

         24  demonstrate after 30 years of research that the

         25  extent to which a population, a given population is
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          2  healthy, often has no relationship to how long, if

          3  they stay in a hospital longer. Can demonstrate, and

          4  he started with this in the seventies, Middlebury,

          5  Vermont, where the rate of admission and the length

          6  of stay was almost 30 to 40 percent lower than the

          7  averages, and yet the patient population was still

          8  as healthy, or not as healthy, as anyone else.

          9                 And I think that what has happened is

         10  he's extended that research into other parts of the

         11  country, and if we look at New York, when I said

         12  earlier but we're behind in New York? Once we catch

         13  up with the reduction in the use of resources that

         14  may be inpatient or highly intense, and we devote

         15  that to ambulatory care, our patients, our

         16  populations, our people are going to be just as

         17  healthy as they are now. And let me add one more

         18  thing, that these extremely expensive resources

         19  consume a lot of money that should be going into

         20  public health, that should be going into ambulatory

         21  care, and the more -- the 53 percent occupancy rate

         22  in Central Brooklyn, right? You know, none of us

         23  want to see St. Mary's closed, none of us want to

         24  see any hospital closed, but if we had an 85 percent

         25  occupancy, which is probably more normal, and we
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          2  were using the money to put into public health, to

          3  put into other areas, I'm willing to bet there are

          4  communities who would be healthier.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I think the data

          6  and the research you reference is interesting,

          7  though. It like any data begs questions. Like in

          8  Vermont, I think where you said he started to do the

          9  data --

         10                 MR. CHALONER: That's where it

         11  started, it spread across the country.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know, those

         13  folks who then were healthier for spending less time

         14  in a hospital, which one can argue certainly that in

         15  a building with a lot of other sick people ain't the

         16  best place to be, but what was the other health

         17  infrastructure in those people's lives? Did they

         18  have a resource to go to aside from being in the

         19  hospital. So I think that there is --

         20                 MR. CHALONER: Yes, and that's the

         21  point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And so my concern

         23  is for us here in New York, I think the overall

         24  construct of keeping people out of the hospital, I

         25  agree with. It is not our goal -- you know, the

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  health care model shouldn't be to hospitalize

          3  people, but what I worry about is that the census

          4  data is driving, is contributing, not the driving

          5  factor, but a contributing factor, or contributing

          6  data to closures and other things that's going on

          7  without the corresponding commitment to diverting

          8  money or resources into that primary care.

          9                 So, for example, in your testimony,

         10  David, you talk about making a strategic commitment

         11  to focus resources on Staten Island, yet Bayley

         12  Seton has been closed on Staten Island and I'm not

         13  aware of St. Vincent's increasing their clinic or

         14  primary care resources on the North Shore, so

         15  whether --

         16                 MR. SPELTZ: That doesn't affect the

         17  plan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: When is that going

         19  to happen, because as I understand it, there's --

         20                 MR. SPELTZ: It's in planning right

         21  now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What is in

         23  planning?

         24                 MR. SPELTZ: The expansion of

         25  outpatient services.
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          2                 The issue at Bayley Seton is that

          3  there are outpatient services there, including --

          4  and also the Neuro Behavioral Unit --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Pardon me?

          6                 MR. SPELTZ: And rather than closing

          7  that down, the reason it's taken so long to close

          8  Bayley Seton, although the acute care beds were

          9  closed long ago, was because no one wanted to lose

         10  those resources on Staten Island, and it has taken

         11  that long in order to find new homes. For those

         12  services.

         13                 In addition to finding new homes for

         14  the existing services, part of our restructuring

         15  plan, if you look at the Staten Island Plan, is

         16  essentially to focus investments on the development

         17  of ambulatory services throughout the Island.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: When does that

         19  plan actualize? Because we've actually had hearings

         20  at Bayley Seton about the Bayley Seton closures, so

         21  the Council has been very involved in that.

         22                 I believe there's also another St.

         23  Vincent's clinic in the north shore that also closed

         24  down not so long ago, so it's great to hear that

         25  there's planning in the offing, but we're Bayley
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          2  Seton moving towards full closure, and we're seeing

          3  St. Vincent's Clinic closing. So it doesn't seem to

          4  me in the near future we're seeing the model what

          5  was the one that led, in the case of the researcher,

          6  to the need for people to stay in hospitals shorter

          7  amount of time.

          8                 MR. SPELTZ: That isn't our intent,

          9  however.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And if you were to

         11  give me a ballpark range of when it would come to

         12  fruition?

         13                 MR. SPELTZ: Well, that depends to

         14  some extent on our access to funds in order to help

         15  make the transfer.

         16                 But right now the plan that we have

         17  laid out, and we'd be very happy to share it with

         18  you, is a three-year plan.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'll follow with

         20  my office and Council Member McMahon's Office.

         21                 MR. SPELTZ: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That would be

         23  great.

         24                 MS. WALTMAN: I'd just like to make,

         25  if I may, a couple of comments as it relates to the
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          2  questions.

          3                 About census, you identified it that

          4  every -- it's the payors, every aspect of the

          5  system, and I don't mean some prefloating system,

          6  but the payors, all are constantly criticizing

          7  hospitals for having too long lengths of stay that

          8  are, that our lengths of stay are too long. And

          9  indeed while New York really is among the highest,

         10  we are consistently criticized for that, so there is

         11  this constant incentive by everybody who pays for

         12  health care, which includes the consumers, which

         13  includes employer groups, get those lengths of stay

         14  down and it's always this tug and pull of trying to

         15  provide quality care and not discharge people too

         16  soon.

         17                 So, I just want to say, yes, there is

         18  -- it begs a lot of questions, but every part of

         19  the bigger system encourages us to get people out

         20  sooner.

         21                 You asked about consolidations and

         22  whether they create efficiencies? Yes, they do. But

         23  one word of caution, when they work right,

         24  so-to-speak, from a health standpoint, typically

         25  people will move certain services in one location,
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          2  concentrate services in order to improve quality and

          3  efficiency, and that does mean that sometimes the

          4  communities that had had it, had had those

          5  particular services, may lose those services because

          6  that larger hospital system is going to concentrate

          7  them for efficiency and quality purposes. So it's

          8  the downside so-to-speak of the successful

          9  consolidation.

         10                 I don't want to place perhaps too

         11  much optimism in the Commission, but again, the

         12  Commission's design, if it works right, is to look

         13  to all of the regions. New York City is considered a

         14  region, through its regional commissioners and its

         15  regional advisory committee, and they're supposed to

         16  hold public hearings, they're supposed to seek input

         17  from local officials, as do the concerns about the

         18  health care system, and we intend to have input into

         19  that process, you should as well, and our

         20  communities here should do that because the idea to

         21  realign need with supply and get away, as we all see

         22  too well, from the idea of the hospital beds are the

         23  health care system. It really needs to do a better

         24  match as part of that process. I know there is a

         25  long lead time for that, but --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Susan, in

          3  Central Brooklyn, Interfaith has seven primary care

          4  facilities to just -- they're struggling. Brookdale

          5  Primary Care Facilities, St. Mary's, the conflict

          6  and the theory is just so deep now that Christine

          7  mentioned that we're moving from one phase to the

          8  other back to the other, and we're, the

          9  constituents, we're caught in the crossfire of all

         10  of this.

         11                 MR. SPELTZ: You know, I would just

         12  like to voice a concern. And it's not an answer

         13  certainly, but, and I echo your concern because what

         14  I'm frighteningly reminded of is what happened in

         15  mental health a number of years ago when the

         16  decision was made to close the inpatient facilities,

         17  and there was no community infrastructure in place,

         18  and the talk about closing the hospitals, to me got

         19  the cart before the horse. You need the

         20  alternatives. There's a reason, I believe, why

         21  lengths of stay are very high in New York. There

         22  aren't good alternatives to hospitalization in New

         23  York at this point, as there are in other parts of

         24  the country.

         25                 There's a concept called long-term
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          2  acute care, New York is the only state in the

          3  country that does not take advantage of that.

          4  Skilled nursing facilities and the access to

          5  ventilator beds, alternatives to hospitals, don't

          6  exist. Close the hospitals without those

          7  alternatives, I'm worried it's a complete replay of

          8  what happened in Mental Health years ago.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know,

         10  obviously the issue of St. Mary's in particular, and

         11  the overall issue is a complicated one and one we're

         12  not going to get clean answers on.

         13                 In the testimony it was referenced

         14  that St. Vincent's is I think the 12th largest

         15  employer of the City of New York? I just want to

         16  make kind of particular note of that, and you know

         17  we, well you all don't, but sometimes the larger we

         18  forget what an important part of economic

         19  development our health care systems, hospitals and

         20  others are. I mean, their primary focus is to take

         21  care of people, but the reality is also they employ

         22  a very, very, very significant number of New

         23  Yorkers. And I find it frustrating sometimes because

         24  when other industries threaten to leave or say

         25  they're going to go defunct, you know, elected
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          2  officials and government leaders begin throwing, you

          3  know, money at those businesses and that's certainly

          4  not been the case for hospitals. So, Council Member

          5  Clarke just said, we need to get the economic

          6  development corporation involved, and I think there

          7  is truth to that, that we need to also figure out

          8  how to better engage economic development entities

          9  in the City and State on this issue. I mean,

         10  foremost or not, we don't want our health care

         11  agencies to be businesses, but you are in fact

         12  businesses and employ people, and we need to

         13  recognize the impact of the employees when places

         14  have to close or scale back and there really is no

         15  reason why you're not getting that same level, you

         16  know, of economic development attention as well.

         17                 MR. CHALONER: I would heartily like

         18  to endorse that, because not only that, but when you

         19  look at our workforce, a significant number of our

         20  workforce, what would be considered low-skilled

         21  employees who don't have the alternatives in this

         22  City, we provide them with health benefits, we

         23  provide them with stable jobs, union membership,

         24  training programs. Their alternative to the

         25  hospitals is what at this point? And I would be very
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          2  concerned about the number of people, where they're

          3  going to end up. I don't think those jobs exist

          4  anywhere in New York, so I think that's a real

          5  opportunity for us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, thank you.

          7  That is going to actually transition us well into

          8  our second panel, which is a prospective from

          9  hospital workers, and our final panel will be from

         10  community advocates.

         11                 I just want to say we've kind of

         12  completely just brushed the issues of the surface of

         13  the issues here in today's hearing. This will

         14  certainly not be the last discussion we have in a

         15  hearing setting or in other settings about this

         16  issue.

         17                 And also, I just want to say, this

         18  Committee I think has been very clear with Greater

         19  New York and Hospital Presidents and CEOs and HHC

         20  our desire to be supportive of public and private

         21  hospitals in this City and we've tried through

         22  roundtables, with hospital presidents and others to

         23  foster a stronger connection, and we want to

         24  continue to do that. Sometimes it may seem like

         25  we're being completely adversarial, but it is all
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          2  with the hope and intent of keeping our institutions

          3  alive and able to serve New Yorkers.

          4                 So, thank you for your patients and

          5  your testimony, and this will be the first of

          6  numerous conversations about the situation in

          7  Central Brooklyn and the situation more broadly in

          8  the five boroughs.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 And next we're going to call up Carol

         11  Pittman, Rodney Cooper, Cynthia Askins and Cora

         12  Mahr.

         13                 And they will be followed by Judy

         14  Wessler, Reverend Delk, and Ngozi Moses. Is Reverend

         15  Delk here? Oh, great. Thanks. I just wanted to make

         16  sure.

         17                 MS. MAHR: Good afternoon, Council

         18  Members Quinn and members of the Health Committee.

         19                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         20  discuss the effects of hospital closures,

         21  specifically St. Mary's Hospital in Brooklyn and the

         22  impact on such closings in the community and on

         23  workers.

         24                 My name is Coraminita Mahr. I've been

         25  a vice president of 1199 for the last 18 years, and
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          2  I'm area director of the Catholic 1 Division, which

          3  consists of over 5,000 members, including those in

          4  the St. Vincent's Hospital Network, and several

          5  other Catholic Institutions.

          6                 Most important, I live in the

          7  community served by St. Mary's. These communities

          8  include Bed Stuy, Crown Heights, East New York,

          9  Bushwick, Ridgewood, Brownsville, communities that

         10  are among the most underprivileged in Brooklyn.

         11                 At St. Mary's Hospital alone, 1199

         12  SEIU represents approximately 900 health care

         13  workers with over 1,100 employees at that

         14  institution.

         15                 We have known that the St. Vincent's

         16  network has been experiencing financial difficulty

         17  for some time. In the past year it has closed, as we

         18  have been discussing, two other institutions, St.

         19  Joseph's Hospital in Queens, and Bayley Seton

         20  Hospital in Staten Island.

         21                 We also know that the network intends

         22  to close St. Mary's, hoping to save itself from

         23  further financial distress.

         24                 We know that the cost of closing this

         25  institution, with payout of severance packages and
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          2  the resulting reduction in anticipated revenue, the

          3  network stands to lose between 13 to 20 million

          4  dollars.

          5                 What we don't know for sure is how

          6  our community is going to survive this closing.

          7                 This institution is one of the

          8  largest employers in Bedford Stuyvesant, and is

          9  vital to the economic growth and rebuilding of this

         10  community, not to mention its historical experience,

         11  for over 150 years serving that community.

         12                 The area that St. Mary serves has

         13  benefitted recently from new housing being built and

         14  renovated over the past two years, and families, as

         15  have been stated as well, have begun to move back

         16  into the neighborhood.

         17                 Over the past five years, poverty

         18  rates have expected to decline significantly and

         19  there is obviously an economic rebirth from which

         20  St. Mary's could benefit.

         21                 We did fight to keep the OB services

         22  open, because we knew that that would be the

         23  beginning of St. Mary's demise, as Councilwoman

         24  Clarke has so eloquently stated earlier.

         25                 Let me say that the closing of St.
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          2  Mary's, in my opinion, will have an adverse impact

          3  on more than just our members, many of whom have

          4  worked there for 20 years or more.

          5                 Of course, the union will assist them

          6  in finding jobs elsewhere, but the closing of the

          7  hospital will adversely affect the community that it

          8  serves.

          9                 Our union has provided much attention

         10  and assistance to the St. Vincent's Catholic Medical

         11  Center Network, and stands ready to assist this

         12  network, as well as Kingsbrook health care system,

         13  in preventing any future closings.

         14                 We intend to do everything that we

         15  can to make sure that financial assistance will be

         16  given to the network that can keep St. Mary's open.

         17                 It's our believe that also, or my

         18  belief, that the decision of this newly-developed

         19  commission will also negatively impact on the

         20  minority and poor communities, most particularly

         21  black and Latino communities.

         22                 That's what we've seen before the

         23  Commission, that's what we've seen with the

         24  Commission. Unless we force proper assessments to be

         25  done in advance prior to any closures and as it
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          2  relates to the decline of critical and acute

          3  services and we also demand proper access to proper

          4  medical care for those communities.

          5                 Thank you, and I will gladly answer

          6  any questions you may have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I just

          8  will say we've been joined by Council Member Tish

          9  James of Brooklyn. There's a little bit about

         10  Brooklyn theme going on here today.

         11                 Carol, do you want to go next?

         12                 MS. PITTMAN: Good afternoon,

         13  Chairperson Quinn and members of the City Council

         14  Health Committee and the Brooklyn team. My name is

         15  Carol Pittman. I'm the New York City Community

         16  Affairs representative at the New York State Nurses'

         17  Association.

         18                 NYSNA represents 34,000 RNs who work

         19  in 129 private and public sector hospitals, clinics

         20  and nursing homes across the State, including some

         21  of the most prestigious in the world.

         22                 Access to quality health care should

         23  be the right of every American and every New Yorker.

         24                 Regardless of your income or where

         25  you live, you should be able to count on health care
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          2  services being readily available for you and your

          3  family when you need them.

          4                 The current proposal to close St.

          5  Mary's Hospital is a betrayal of those who live in

          6  what is already an under-served community in Central

          7  Brooklyn.

          8                 By closing this facility, the Board

          9  of Directors of St. Vincent Catholic Medical Centers

         10  will be cutting off services to a low-income

         11  population with a high rate of HIV/AIDS infant

         12  mortality, asthma and a range of other health

         13  problems.

         14                 Unfortunately, the proposal to close

         15  St. Mary's is part of a disturbing pattern being

         16  served by the St. Vincent's group. St. Vincent's

         17  Catholic Medical Centers in addition to the closings

         18  we've already discussed here is also closing the

         19  pediatric unit at Mary Immaculate Hospital, a

         20  facility that provides vital health care services to

         21  low-income families in Jamaica, Queens. Pediatric

         22  services will remain open, however, at St. John's

         23  Hospital, which serves a more affluent Queens

         24  community.

         25                 The low-income families of children
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          2  needing pediatric care in both Brooklyn and Queens

          3  will be forced to travel farther, expending their

          4  limited resources to do so, and some may not even be

          5  able to make it to a hospital at all.

          6                 In addition, the registered nurses

          7  slated for layoff at Mary Immaculate are primarily

          8  experienced pediatric RNs. They are the first to go

          9  because they are the most highly paid.

         10                 True, the hospital has offered to

         11  retrain them as psychiatric nurses, this after

         12  they've worked more than 20 years in the pediatric

         13  specialty.

         14                 Needless to say, many of them will

         15  not take that offer.

         16                 The net result will be that the

         17  services of valuable, experienced nurses will be

         18  lost to the community. Their knowledge cannot be

         19  taught, it's been through years of bed-side nursing.

         20                 Do we really want a health care

         21  system in New York that is based on the bottom line

         22  rather than need, where only the financially strong

         23  survive?

         24                 Where will that leave the hospitals

         25  that operate in the core sections of our cities, of
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          2  our City? More important, where will it leave the

          3  residents of those communities?

          4                 Ironically, these proposals come at a

          5  time where our state is embarking on an

          6  unprecedented project to close so-called unneeded

          7  hospitals and nursing homes.

          8                 Last month the Governor and the

          9  Legislature announced a formation of the Commission

         10  on Health Care Facilities in the 21st Century, which

         11  will recommend which facilities should be closed.

         12                 If the basis for the Commission's

         13  decisions is similar to that of the St. Vincent's

         14  Catholic Medical Center's Board. Health care in our

         15  State is headed toward the 19th Century, rather than

         16  the 21st.

         17                 The New York State Nurses'

         18  Association, joining with Coalitions such as the

         19  Commission on the Public's Health System and the

         20  Committee to Save Our Hospitals, is determined that

         21  judgments about the need for individual hospitals

         22  should not be based on their financial condition or

         23  the condition of their physical plants.

         24                 These decisions must be based on the

         25  need in the surrounding communities for the services
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          2  provided by those facilities. To determine that

          3  need, input must be provided by representatives of

          4  the community - families, health care workers, law

          5  makers, advocates and individual patients.

          6                 The fact that other hospitals exist

          7  in a region does not mean that they will serve

          8  populations in need of care. Decisions about

          9  hospital closings should not only be based on

         10  capacity, they must also be based on hospitals'

         11  willingness and ability to provide services to the

         12  entire community, including the needy and the

         13  uninsured.

         14                 Council Member Quinn and members of

         15  the Health Committee, the registered nurses of our

         16  Association urge you and other members of the

         17  Committee on Health and the Council to ensure that

         18  any deliberations on hospital closings include input

         19  from the affected communities.

         20                 Join us in calling upon the State to

         21  conduct community needs analyses before it makes

         22  decisions that could affect the health and lives of

         23  our most vulnerable citizens.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm not trying to
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          2  rush anyone by standing, I'm just sick of sitting.

          3  I've been sitting since 9:30.

          4                 So, why don't you two go, and if you

          5  would just identify yourself for the record, Mr.

          6  Cooper, when you start. Thank you.

          7                 MR. COOPER: Good afternoon, Council

          8  Member Quinn, and the members of the City Council

          9  Health Committee. My name is Rodney Cooper. I work

         10  in the Radiology Department at St. Mary's Hospital.

         11  In fact, I'm a CAT Scan tech, and I just want to

         12  deviate a second. I was listening to Mr. Speltz

         13  speak about getting a new CAT Scan, and I believe

         14  that they received monies for a CAT Scan for Mary

         15  Immac, St. John's, St. Vincent's and we're still

         16  waiting on ours. But anyway, I'm a delegate for my

         17  Department, and I also am a part of a lot of the

         18  rallies that are happening, and I've been an active

         19  member for many years.

         20                 I strongly oppose St. Mary's closing.

         21  Not just because I work there, but because I live in

         22  the community as well. And most of our patients are

         23  from Bedford Stuyvesant and Crown Heights, East New

         24  York, Bushwick, and Ridgewood, and it's mostly a

         25  population of people of color, primarily
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          2  African-American, but a large Hispanic population as

          3  well.

          4                 The neighborhoods that are served by

          5  St. Mary's have a very high infant mortality rate,

          6  and there is a high amount of AIDS infection, HIV

          7  infection and AIDS, as well as a very high asthma

          8  rate as well, but many of the people living in the

          9  community are poor, and they don't have health

         10  insurance, so they use the emergency as a primary

         11  health provider.

         12                 But because St. Mary's Hospital is

         13  there, they can use the family health services for

         14  outpatient services. This will make a big difference

         15  for the quality of life of individuals and families

         16  who would otherwise go without adequate care. We

         17  can't afford to lose them.

         18                 Therefore, the closing of St. Mary's

         19  as an institution will be detrimental to the health

         20  of the residents and communities, and I strongly

         21  urge you to oppose this.

         22                 Thank you for the opportunity.

         23                 MS. ASKINS: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         24  name is Cynthia Askins. I'm an employee at St.

         25  Mary's Hospital, but I'm also a community resident.
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          2                 You have a copy of what I was going

          3  to say, and I just, I feel compelled to say certain

          4  things in response to what Mr. Speltz said.

          5                 All that's said about the infant

          6  mortality, the HIV, is evident. We had a speaker who

          7  came to St. Mary's Hospital, Dr. Zangagle, who said

          8  HIV, for the white woman with HIV, it's one in

          9  3,000. For the woman in color, it's one in 160.

         10                 For the average HIV is one in five --

         11  one in 50; in our community it's one in nine.

         12                 There's many reasons why we cannot

         13  curtail services at St. Mary's Hospital nor in my

         14  community.

         15                 Mr. Speltz mentioned something about

         16  census. St. Mary's didn't get here by accident. We

         17  had a pediatrician, a terrific pediatrician in the

         18  emergency room, whose services were cut. The

         19  community now knows there's no physician,

         20  pediatrician in the emergency room, you don't bring

         21  your kids there. That affects census.

         22                 We have doctors on staff who get a

         23  salary as I do, but who are not productive. They're

         24  not bound to bring patients to St. Mary's, and when

         25  they were asked, they have commitment elsewhere.
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          2                 And that's fine, but who brings the

          3  patients into St. Mary's?

          4                 We have a number of physicians who

          5  have started their own private practices, and that's

          6  great, but from the patients that came into our

          7  emergency rooms, and who are discharged to their

          8  private practices.

          9                 St. Mary's had certain assets, and

         10  I'm going to read this, because on all this I wrote,

         11  St. Mary's shouldn't be relieved of its viable

         12  services and assets.

         13                 We have a methadone program that

         14  started 33 years ago and when I came to St. Mary's.

         15  That's not part of the package that's going to

         16  Kingsbrook. We have a building that I don't know the

         17  worth of it, in terms of shovel and haul, but with

         18  all the houses that are being built in our

         19  community, I would imagine it has some value to it.

         20  That's not part of the package going to Kingsbrook.

         21                 It's very hard in my little world,

         22  this reminds me of what they call corporate rating,

         23  I believe. You buy a little place, you strip it of

         24  its assets and then you kick it out there.

         25                 It has been mentioned that, I was
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          2  going to say pauper, but Councilwoman Clarke said

          3  stepchild, and that's how the employees of St.

          4  Mary's have felt for a long time, because there was

          5  nobody at our house watching our store. You can have

          6  central this and central that, somebody has to be

          7  there to watch what's going on.

          8                 The merger did not help St. Mary's. I

          9  don't know if it helped SVCMC, but it didn't help

         10  St. Mary's, because nobody, we became further

         11  removed from, if you will, the central office.

         12                 Something was mentioned about

         13  billing. We have asked, we have done studies at St.

         14  Mary's that says we can make X amount of money.

         15  Forget that. We were so behind the 8 ball in terms

         16  of billing and whatever, it needed someone to come

         17  and take a look at what was going on.

         18                 But even with that, we asked, well,

         19  what's St. Mary's stuff in all of this? Because you

         20  can say St. Mary's, you subsidize to the tune of $62

         21  million, but I remember a paper came out in February

         22  that said something about 15 or 20 million dollars.

         23  So, I kind of wonder in my little world, how did we

         24  snowball into so much.

         25                 And I'm a realist. I think if a ship
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          2  is going down, I can cast my stuff on you. It

          3  happens like that. But we believe that St. Mary's

          4  can survive. We believe with the right management it

          5  can survive. And you know, when St. Mary's closed,

          6  when they closed the OB, it went out to the whole

          7  community OB was closing. If you call the hospital

          8  they'll say we have GYN services. Brookdale got a

          9  team of OB/GYN docs and turned that place around.

         10  That didn't happen at St. Mary's. Some of the

         11  surgery, the reason why we don't have it, we don't

         12  do GYN surgery to the extent we used to. We have a

         13  director of surgical services that brings in

         14  patients. We've closed ORs. That's the reason the

         15  census goes down. That's the reason why you only

         16  have eight cases, because you can't -- who are you

         17  going to do surgery on? The docs are not bringing in

         18  any patients.

         19                 I just strongly urge anything that

         20  you can do to take a look, not only at St. Mary's

         21  problem, but the problem of Central Brooklyn,

         22  because it means that people, my people and

         23  everybody is my person, believe me, you know, I feel

         24  that way, is that they're not going to get the best

         25  of health care.
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          2                 Because you know what? It's hard.

          3  It's hard being where you are now and you can be

          4  sometimes across the street and people won't go for

          5  care, for many different reasons, but there's a

          6  sensitivity. There's a staff who have been, if you

          7  look at the roster you've probably seen most of the

          8  staff is there more than ten years. And I'm not the

          9  only one who has been there more than 30 years, and

         10  we're there because we want to serve the people in

         11  our community.

         12                 So, I ask anything you can do on our

         13  behalf, please do so. If we need to do something

         14  differently, please direct us. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all for

         16  your testimony.

         17                 It was excellent testimony. One of

         18  the things I was thinking, four of you were speaking

         19  both as it relates to the Commission, but also

         20  particularly as St. Mary's, is what outreach has

         21  there been? What participation has there been --

         22  what participation has been solicited from the

         23  unions, the employees. You both are employees and

         24  community members, and community members as it

         25  relates to participating in the discussion about the
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          2  problems, the challenges, and the solution.

          3                 MS. ASKINS: May I answer that?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Of course.

          5                 MS. ASKINS: A number of years ago we

          6  used to have a community board that used to meet at

          7  the hospital once a month. The hospital was, if you

          8  will, challenged to their performance, and in that

          9  discussion and that dialogue, many times we had to

         10  do better. That community board ceased to exist at

         11  St. Mary's Hospital, so there has not been --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You mean like a

         13  community advisory board, okay.

         14                 MS. ASKINS: At the hospital. So, it

         15  has ceased to exist in the hospital where the

         16  hospital, and even the workers would go down and

         17  sometimes we're accountable, and you have to be.

         18  Because part of the responsibility of being there to

         19  provide care is that you have to be accountable.

         20                 So, those discussions have not

         21  happened, and as far as I know, we have gone to

         22  community board meetings where something is put on

         23  -- well, when they were closing the OB, and that

         24  was put on the agenda. But there was no real

         25  dialogue. There was no demand or no arena for the
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          2  community to demand us to be accountable. And to see

          3  and do that check, are we doing our job, are we

          4  doing what's necessary?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Part of the

          6  reason, and then other folks can answer too, that I

          7  raised the question is, one, I think it's

          8  informative, how broad-based outreach in something

          9  like this is, I think is informative about what type

         10  of perspectives are really being sought.

         11                 Also, I know from personal

         12  experience, with 1199, not around a hospital but

         13  around other health care entities where you've had

         14  workers where there have been statements that we

         15  can't do X, Y and Z around a contractor stay open

         16  because of financial problems, the union has been

         17  remarkably forthcoming with creative ideas and

         18  resources, so it seems to me if that hasn't happened

         19  it's a real loss on the part of St. Mary's.

         20                 MS. MAHR: If I can say something

         21  here?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure.

         23                 MS. MAHR: We have been, as I

         24  continuously stated, trying to work with the

         25  Catholic 4, a long time in turning, trying to turn
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          2  things around within this particular network, and

          3  this is the role that we play with the many other

          4  hospitals, as you may well know.

          5                 The problem is obviously larger than

          6  any impact that 1199 could have. It has to do with,

          7  as, I forget her name, Susan was pointing out from

          8  the Greater New York Health Association, the

          9  deregulation of health care and state.

         10                 But also in terms of what's going

         11  forward with this particular commission, 1199 had

         12  been attempting, and we still are trying to make

         13  sure that there are some voices being heard from

         14  labor on that Commission. I don't think that we're

         15  being successful at this point.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And there are no

         17  labor reps on it presently?

         18                 MS. MAHR: No.

         19                 But in addition to that, there are

         20  many people here, health care advocates, who can

         21  speak to what the community has been doing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know, one

         23  thing I just want to make note of for us to

         24  follow-up on is, you know, I think in the Committee

         25  we should take a look at who the members of that
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          2  Commission are and certainly send letters expressing

          3  our deep concern that the Commission is broader,

          4  comprehensive enough, and in addition we may want to

          5  actually have the Council pass a resolution to that

          6  effect urging that the Commission membership be

          7  expanded.

          8                 MS. MAHR: Right. The other thing I

          9  wanted to mention, before I give it to Carol, is

         10  that we are trying to educate our members on the

         11  role of that Commission, and we put out some

         12  proposals in terms of the focus that we thought

         13  would be important, to make sure that there was

         14  attention being given to what's happening in New

         15  York City.

         16                 Our concern has to do with the

         17  appointments that the Governor can make, and my

         18  understanding is that there's a lot of Upstate

         19  representatives, and I believe that New York City is

         20  under-represented.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, if you could

         22  share that information with us, because that would

         23  be very helpful. This would be a lot of work, so

         24  something that may or may not make sense, if in fact

         25  we're not able to change the make-up of the
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          2  Commission, perhaps we should formulate our own New

          3  York Commission to kind of indicate what should be

          4  there and what the information would have been.

          5                 Carol.

          6                 MS. PITTMAN: Yes, I think that's the

          7  way to go actually. I believe that 15 out of 19

          8  appointments have been made and it's very, very

          9  lopsided with Upstaters, and there are certainly no

         10  representatives of our communities on the

         11  Commission, and I believe that although they will be

         12  having public hear -- or regional hearings I think,

         13  which certainly NYSNA will be participating in, but

         14  we also believe that we need to have much more

         15  community-based hearings on this, at least in New

         16  York City. You know, whatever happens Upstate

         17  happens Upstate, but we need, we must be represented

         18  and our voices have to be heard.

         19                 And there have been activities that

         20  have started in, particularly in the Central

         21  Brooklyn area. I know that there are a number of

         22  people here who can speak to them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member James.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: This is more of
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          2  a comment than a question. I know that prior to the

          3  enactment of HCRA, the State could negotiate

          4  inpatient rates and the reimbursement rate has

          5  really hurt the health care industry throughout the

          6  State of New York, and the deregulation of health

          7  rates have really had a drastic effect on hospitals

          8  throughout the City of New York. And I know that I'm

          9  working closely with Senator Andrews who has a task

         10  force on health care in the City of New York and

         11  we've had a number of discussions with a number of

         12  advocates who have been in the room with regards to

         13  the crisis that we are facing in Central Brooklyn,

         14  and basically designating Central Brooklyn as a

         15  health care disaster, and that how we need to

         16  coordinate and commit more dollars to Central

         17  Brooklyn. It involves Interfaith, it involves St.

         18  Mary's and the list of hospitals goes on and on.

         19                 And yesterday we held a press

         20  conference regarding the infant mortality rate, and

         21  as all of us know, there are five communities in

         22  Brooklyn with the highest infant rate mortality.

         23  They include Bedford Stuyvesant, Brownsville,

         24  Bushwick, Flatbush and Ft. Greene.

         25                 In addition to that, we all know
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          2  about the high asthma rates in Central Brooklyn,

          3  particularly in Ft. Greene where I have a lead belt,

          4  and we all know about obviously the cancer rates and

          5  the fact that we are leading in the -- there's a

          6  pandemic in Central Brooklyn, particularly amongst

          7  African-American women, fastest-growing group

          8  contracting the AIDS virus.

          9                 And yet we're facing the closing of

         10  St. Mary's on the deregulation, but I believe in

         11  hope and I believe that a miracle will happen. And I

         12  believe that we are going to save St. Mary's at a

         13  time when we're talking about, and I know I keep

         14  continuing to drum the beat, at the time when we're

         15  talking about giving $200 million to build an arena

         16  in Brooklyn, we need to put some more dollars into

         17  saving this hospital.

         18                 These are monies that we could

         19  redirect to save this hospital as opposing to build

         20  an arena that is going to just aggravate the asthma

         21  rates, aggravate infant mortality, displace people,

         22  and you want to talk to me about an arena when we're

         23  thinking about the closing of St. Mary's Hospital.

         24                 Our priorities as a City and as a

         25  governmental body are all screwed up. And I'm not
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          2  afraid to say it now, and I'll continue to say it.

          3                 Again, we should redirect these

          4  dollars to St. Mary's Hospital, and we should really

          5  get our priorities in order. And the fact that our

          6  babies are dying a faster rate than people want to

          7  talk about basketball is a shame before God and all

          8  of us.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're going to

         11  take just a two-second break, if you'd bear with us,

         12  because we're going to allow Council Member Oddo to

         13  vote on 498-A, and I just want to explain to folks

         14  that we're in budget negotiations today, which is

         15  why people are coming in and out. We felt this topic

         16  was urgent, so we scheduled it at the same time as

         17  budget negotiations.

         18                 So, I apologize to my colleagues for

         19  that, and hope people will understand why people are

         20  going in and out.

         21                 And if the clerk could call the --

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Oddo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         24  Chair. I was actually next door in the hearing room,

         25  14th floor, 250 Broadway, banging my head against
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          2  the wall, which is another way of saying, dealing

          3  with the Department of Buildings.

          4                 So, if I look a little fatigued --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: There's also

          6  another hearing going on there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I have to tell

          8  you, I won't tell you because I'm being recorded. I

          9  vote, as a pug owner, I proudly vote yes on Intro.

         10  498-A.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The vote now

         14  stands at six in the affirmative, zero in the

         15  negative and no abstentions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         17  Stewart. Who can deliver medical care --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair. I don't know if any of you could answer

         20  these questions, but I wanted to know basically what

         21  the beds, at the top of the, height of the hospital

         22  activities, what the emergency room visits, what are

         23  the beds, and what are the employment? If you have

         24  any of that information, that will be -- I want to

         25  get a feel of what the hospital used to do when it

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  was in its heyday.

          3                 MS. ASKINS: In its heyday, as you

          4  call it, St. Mary's used to deliver, and it became a

          5  question of concern when the delivery went below

          6  1,000, and that was in probably 2002.

          7                 The call or the alert went out to

          8  management long before that because many of the

          9  nursing staff noticed the change in what was going

         10  on. There was a difference in the paradigm, patients

         11  weren't coming to St. Mary's. Although St. Mary's

         12  employed physicians at Satellite clinics to kind of

         13  steer patients here, if you will, many of those same

         14  physicians were steering patients to other places,

         15  and that's because there were some dynamics and

         16  politics going on within the OB/GYN.

         17                 Our census in the emergency room as

         18  declined because we don't have OB, and we don't have

         19  a full GYN staff anymore.

         20                 There was a concerted effort to build

         21  Med Surge, and Med Surge, up until I guess perhaps,

         22  perhaps October, November, maybe even December, and

         23  I don't know the numbers but I know the nursing

         24  director was comfortable with Med Surge, that the

         25  beds were well occupied.
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          2                 There was some concern about the

          3  emergency room, as I said, because we didn't have

          4  women health services so-to-speak.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But you don't

          6  have any, if they had data like to say, well, there

          7  are 300 beds on --

          8                 MS. MAHR: I'm looking at something I

          9  received from one of the doctors at St. Mary's, and

         10  I believe I saw it, can't find it now, it was a

         11  269-bed facility in 2003. Apparently these are the

         12  most recent statistics that we get. 2003, St. Mary's

         13  had a total of 10,897 discharges. They generated

         14  40,000 Emergency Department Visits, and had over

         15  155,000 ambulatory care visits.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: 155,000?

         17                 MS. MAHR: Yes.

         18                 They experienced 5,301 discharges

         19  from Bed Stuy Crown Heights, 694 discharges from

         20  Williamsburg Bushwick, and 785 discharges in East

         21  New York. That's all 2003 information.

         22                 I believe that also what -- well,

         23  we've seen this for some time. We know that the

         24  census has been manipulated over a period of time as

         25  the decision, the management had made the decision
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          2  to move towards closing services and inevitably the

          3  hospital itself. So, we have always had concerns

          4  about the census data that we were receiving. And

          5  Cynthia can tell you from the outpatient clinic

          6  about the numbers of residents, or the types of

          7  residents who still come, refusing to acknowledge

          8  the fact that OB services have been closed.

          9                 People just still intend to utilize

         10  services of St. Mary's as long as St. Mary's is

         11  there.

         12                 MR. COOPER: But before you do that,

         13  Council Member Stewart, just to answer the question

         14  on the personal level, I don't know about the

         15  numbers but I was working in the ER on Monday and

         16  there were patients that were diverted from

         17  Brookdale and Kings County and the emergency room

         18  was full. As a matter of fact, there was a gentleman

         19  that had to go upstairs to get beds to bring people.

         20  People are still coming to St. Mary's even though

         21  the letter sent out said that the hospital would

         22  close. And there have been all sort of mechanism put

         23  in place to make the ship sort of sink quicker than

         24  it should.

         25                 I visited, and we had a rally there
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          2  and I was amazed to see how many people came out

          3  because of concern for this hospital. I really

          4  thought that a lot more should have been done with

          5  the State folks and the Governor and the Mayor,

          6  because they're the ones that can do something right

          7  at this moment. They're the ones that can really, at

          8  least we can find monies for everything else, I

          9  don't see why we can't find some sort of a stop gap

         10  funding to deal with it until we straighten out how

         11  we can do the right things to make sure that the

         12  hospital continue to be viable.

         13                 I think there's going to be a real

         14  problem for the residents in that area, because I

         15  cannot understand, for those poor folks being able

         16  to take their meager resources to be traveling to

         17  places like Kings County, which is quite some

         18  distance away.

         19                 And if there's an emergency, they

         20  could have just walked to the emergency room at St.

         21  Mary's, when it's closed, it's not available, that

         22  wouldn't be available.

         23                 And, so, I really feel for what's

         24  happening there and I know there are many jobs that

         25  will be lost. It means then that we will have a
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          2  negative impact on the quality of life around there,

          3  and I hope some sort of adjustments can be made so

          4  that at least it can stem the tide of what's

          5  happening.

          6                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          8  Boyland.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I want to

         10  close by just making a statement for my colleagues

         11  from Central Brooklyn, especially that have joined

         12  here today. Although St. Mary's is physically in my

         13  district, a lot of the employees live in Council

         14  Member Stewart's area, Clarke, Vann and James and I

         15  want to thank them for helping us move forward,

         16  especially with the unions and the hospital support

         17  that I think that the rallies have obviously brought

         18  a lot of attention, but also made people pay

         19  attention to the fact that St. Mary's is definitely,

         20  and we will continue to work a vital part of the

         21  community, and because of that we have to continue

         22  to do what we do.

         23                 I'll state again that on the State

         24  level, although in the City we are the employees and

         25  we are the patients, this is more of a State issue,
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          2  and when Council Member Quinn agreed to do this,

          3  which I commend her for this, we know that there has

          4  to be a lot more work done on the State level to

          5  really shine down on us and Assemblyman Boyland and

          6  Senator Parker and all of those -- Assemblyman

          7  Norman, are gathering now with the Governor and with

          8  Shelly Silver again. I mean, that's really

          9  important. We have to wait to see what the outcome

         10  of what their meeting is going to be, and how we can

         11  come up with the necessary dollars, the necessary

         12  dollars to help St. Mary's move along.

         13                 So, I thank all of you for your

         14  support and we will continue to fight the fight

         15  because we will see the doors open completely for

         16  St. Mary's.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Council Member James.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just a last

         21  point.

         22                 I read recently, Councilwoman

         23  Boyland, and your statement was on point, that they

         24  just saved a hospital in Westchester, I believe? In

         25  Westchester, $6 million. So, if they can do the same
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          2  thing for Westchester, surely they can do the same

          3  thing for St. Vincent in Central Brooklyn. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

          6  much.

          7                 We're going to call up the next

          8  panel. Unfortunately, Judy Wessler, from the

          9  Commission on the Public Health had to leave, we

         10  will make sure her testimony is part of the record

         11  and everyone gets copies of it. We apologize for the

         12  delay.

         13                 Reverend Delk from Save Our Hospitals

         14  and New York Lawyers for the Public Interest; Ngozi

         15  Moses of the Brooklyn Perinatal Network. If they

         16  could come on up.

         17                 I just want to say we have three

         18  other witnesses after this panel. Katrina McCloud,

         19  Amanda Masters, and Baruch Weisman, I think it is.

         20  Those three witnesses will testify, you'll testify

         21  after this panel, sir. After this panel we'll call

         22  you up.

         23                 I just want to say after this panel

         24  those three are the final witness. So, if anybody

         25  else wanted to testify, you should let that be known

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  to the Sergeants, otherwise that's it.

          3                 So you guys could either arm wrestle

          4  to decide who goes first or just -- okay, much

          5  better. Thank you.

          6                 Just state your name for the record

          7  when you begin.

          8                 MS. MOSES: I'm Ngozi Moses from

          9  Brooklyn Perinatal Network. I also represent the

         10  Brooklyn Task Force on Infant and Maternal Mortality

         11  and Family Health, the Citywide Coalition to End

         12  Infant Mortality and the Federation of County

         13  Perinatal Networks.

         14                 Honorable Chairperson and other

         15  members of the City Council, I'm really thankful for

         16  this opportunity to present some testimony here

         17  today. And I hope that the outcome of this hearing

         18  will influence the prevention of closing of

         19  hospitals in our community and other communities

         20  across the City without a plan being put in place

         21  prior to the closure. And we hear a lot of rumors

         22  about hospitals, the need to close hospitals, and

         23  maybe that is so, but we are concerned about putting

         24  the cart before the horse.

         25                 I will add some testimony to the
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          2  written testimony I present, which is just one page

          3  of a two-page testimony, based on some things that I

          4  heard from the other partners.

          5                 We're extremely concerned in Brooklyn

          6  about the potential of several hospitals to close in

          7  our needy communities. Four hospitals have withdrawn

          8  services from our community maternal and to health

          9  service, and when we see services for women and

         10  children being withdrawn, it's the writing on the

         11  wall for hospitals to close.

         12                 St. Mary's, about a year and a half

         13  ago, when it withdrew maternal and child health, we

         14  warned and we said that the hospital had a sinister

         15  plan to close, they denied it, and now 18 months

         16  later we are seeing that the hospital has submitted

         17  a closure plan.

         18                 But at that time they denied to the

         19  community and to the state that they had intentions

         20  to close.

         21                 We know the Caledonian Hospital

         22  closed its doors without any notice to the

         23  community, or without much notice, and we know that

         24  St. Mary's now proposes to close its doors in

         25  December.
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          2                 Due to the withdrawal of these

          3  maternal and child health services from the

          4  communities, we understand that there is a large

          5  part of Brooklyn, at least three contiguous areas

          6  that now have no certified OB/GYN specialists

          7  operating.

          8                 I can't confirm the zip codes at this

          9  time. We're checking into it at the validity, but we

         10  will certainly bring that information to you. But

         11  that would be a horror story. And the hospital, St.

         12  Mary's and Interfaith in the middle of the community

         13  are hospitals that no longer provide those services,

         14  and we know that the Kingsbrook Jewish Center also

         15  closed the Speak-Up Services (phonetic), and we hear

         16  that there are some other things in the wings which

         17  we're not sure of.

         18                 We want to ask for four things of

         19  this Council.

         20                 One, to demand from New York State

         21  DOH that no approvals for major service withdrawals

         22  or closures of hospitals be approved without a full

         23  community needs assessment, and a resulting

         24  alternative service delivery plan being in place

         25  before the approval, any approval to close services
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          2  is given.

          3                 We feel that if a hospital is indeed

          4  in trouble, and wishes to close, feeling that it

          5  cannot recover, the New York State Department of

          6  Health should be asked to take over interim, some

          7  responsibility for that hospital, in order to remain

          8  to keep the services in the community, if it's in a

          9  high-need area like Central Brooklyn, until a buyer

         10  or alternative service plan is in place.

         11                 We understand for St. Mary's there

         12  are possibly other persons or other organizations in

         13  the wing ready to buy or to negotiate the purchase

         14  of that hospital.

         15                 We are asking the Council to also

         16  press for the adoption of the hospital closure

         17  principles proposed by the Commission on the Public

         18  Health.

         19                 These principles already have strong

         20  community support.

         21                 And last, but not least, we are

         22  asking that since there is a certificate of need

         23  process, a very intense process, that is usually in

         24  place before a hospital is allowed to build or offer

         25  new services, that there should be a similar

                                                            118

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  extensive needs assessment and impact analysis for

          3  closing of hospitals and major withdrawal of

          4  services.

          5                 And we're asking our Council to use

          6  the leverage that you have to ask that a very

          7  extensive process be put in place, rather than the

          8  New York State Department of Health just approving

          9  hospital closure plans because a hospital is in

         10  trouble. We feel that many of the hospitals that are

         11  in trouble have mismanaged and bankrupted the

         12  hospital, and we're concerned that tax levy money

         13  has been going to these hospitals over a number of

         14  the past years and again could come to them and they

         15  need to be more accountable.

         16                 So, we need to have some sort of

         17  investigations into how these hospitals are managing

         18  their finances.

         19                 I thank you.

         20                 REVEREND DELK: Let us pray. I'm the

         21  Reverend Karl Delk, Pastor of the Greater Rugged

         22  Cross Baptist Church, and Co-Chairman for the

         23  Committee to save our hospitals.

         24                 I speak today on behalf of my

         25  parishioners and also the community that I serve,
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          2  and also the Committee to Save Our Hospitals is a

          3  new Central Brooklyn coalition of activists, clergy

          4  and health care advocates formed to address the

          5  health crisis in Central Brooklyn, by assuring that

          6  the quality and equitable medical services remain in

          7  the community.

          8                 We are pleased by the City's Council

          9  decision to hold a hearing to address hospital

         10  closures at this critical time, and I want to thank

         11  you, Ms. Quinn, for allowing us to come.

         12                 Therefore, our Coalition would like

         13  the City Council and the Mayor to support Coalitions

         14  like ours who are mobilizing to stop hospitals from

         15  closing in low-income communities of color.

         16                 Now, the Department of Health and

         17  Board of Directors, Board of Directors of Hospitals,

         18  are making decisions to close our hospitals without

         19  engaging in a real needs assessment in the

         20  community.

         21                 We have not been consulted and our

         22  dire health needs are being ignored. Communities in

         23  Staten Island and Queens have already experienced

         24  closures of St. Vincent's Catholic Medical Centers,

         25  hospitals, and we are facing a very and likely
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          2  closure of St. Mary's Hospital, another St.

          3  Vincent's Hospital that serves our community.

          4                 The New York State Department of

          5  Health has approved inadequate closure plans

          6  submitted by St. Vincent's Catholic Medical Center

          7  in other communities. Our community is already

          8  medically under-served, and we fear what will happen

          9  if we lose St. Mary's Hospital.

         10                 Less than two weeks ago, the

         11  community learned of the St. Vincent's Catholic

         12  Medical Center's Board of Directors voting to

         13  approve a closure plan for the St. Mary's Hospital.

         14                 The community strongly disagrees with

         15  this decision because the community needs for this

         16  hospital is too great.

         17                 Our community depends on the services

         18  at St. Mary's, services like the emergency room,

         19  acute care, HIV/AIDS services, mental health and

         20  drug treatment. And we cannot afford to lose our

         21  hospital now.

         22                 We are urging that the New York State

         23  Department of Health, not to approve any closure

         24  plan without taking a real look at this community

         25  and what the community really needs. A property
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          2  needs assessment has not been conducted, and without

          3  hospitals like St. Mary's, others including the

          4  public hospitals, belonging to the Health and

          5  Hospitals Corporation will be overburdened. Our

          6  people need treatment. They must get it somewhere,

          7  and we have seen no proof that closing one hospital

          8  and forcing people to seek other hospitals, will

          9  ultimately save money.

         10                 It is wrong for the hospitals in our

         11  neighborhoods to be closed. It puts the people in

         12  the community in a position that it will take them

         13  longer to get to another hospital. Time is very

         14  important when it comes to health and hospital. Time

         15  is a matter of life and death.

         16                 The community must have a seat on

         17  Governor Pataki's new Commission that will decide

         18  which health facilities are slated for closure.

         19                 It is appalling that the Governor has

         20  appointed a Commission single-handedly and not

         21  taking input from our local elected officials, okay?

         22                 Committee To Save Our Hospitals has

         23  worked hard to inform the community about what is

         24  happening, and had been able with the help of local

         25  organizations, churches and hospital employees to
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          2  gather over 2,000 signatures opposing the closure of

          3  St. Mary's Hospital.

          4                 These petitions are here. The

          5  Committee To Save Our Hospitals and I are here to

          6  submit to you the petitions that have been signed by

          7  many concerned citizens of Central Brooklyn, and

          8  these are the petitions here.

          9                 The Committee To Save Our Hospitals

         10  and the community ask that City Council, the Mayor,

         11  urge Albany to heed our demands.

         12                 We demand the following, and we ask

         13  that the Council demand these things as well, to

         14  stop the closure of our hospital.

         15                 First thing we need is a needs

         16  assessment. Urge Albany to conduct a real needs

         17  assessment of Central Brooklyn Community, and the

         18  impact of closure reduction of services in our

         19  community.

         20                 The next thing is money. Money must

         21  be allotted to support St. Mary's Hospital while the

         22  needs assessment is conducted.

         23                 Urge Albany to provide financing to

         24  St. Mary's.

         25                 And in emergencies like this, we urge
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          2  the City and State to work together to create a

          3  viable financial plan to keep St. Mary's open and

          4  operating. We ask the Council to consider allocating

          5  financial help to keep the hospital in this

          6  community.

          7                 Then we ask for a seat on the

          8  Commission. Demand a seat on Governor Pataki's

          9  Commission on Health Care Facilities. There is no

         10  representation from Central Brooklyn, nor

         11  representation from any low-income community of

         12  color in the City. And we do ask this Council if

         13  they would send a letter to the Governor asking to

         14  put someone of color on this Commission.

         15                 State level hearings. Demand that

         16  State elected officials sponsor public hearings on

         17  the impact of hospital closures in medically

         18  under-served areas and low-income communities of

         19  color, and stand up to Pataki regarding his

         20  commission.

         21                 I want to let you know there's a

         22  rally that will go forth on June 24th, from four to

         23  six p.m., in front of Bishop Sullivan's Office at

         24  191 Jaralemon Street between Court and Clinton

         25  Streets, and we're asking you all to be there if you
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          2  can.

          3                 I want to thank you for giving me

          4  this time to speak to you on such a critical matter

          5  that will impact the health of the Central Brooklyn

          6  Community. We urge your support in ensuring that the

          7  health care needs of the community are being met and

          8  protected.

          9                 I thank you so much for this time,

         10  and may God bless you and have a smile upon you.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 I just want to say we completely

         15  share the outrage of the ridiculous make-up of the

         16  Commission, quite frankly, both as it relates to

         17  omission of people of color, omission of community

         18  folks, omission of workers and their

         19  representatives. So, we're going to definitely do a

         20  letter resolution and try to even do more advocacy

         21  than that. And if we have to, in an attempt to

         22  dramatize how unsatisfactory the Commission is,

         23  create our own New York City Commission, and we

         24  will, you know, do that as well, if that's an

         25  effective way that we all believe collectively we
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          2  will make that point clear.

          3                 I don't know if anyone has any

          4  questions?

          5                 Thank you all very much for your time

          6  and your work.

          7                 REVEREND DELK: Tracy knows she don't

          8  question the preacher.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, okay.

         10  Allrighty.

         11                 Okay, next we're going to call up our

         12  final three witnesses, please.

         13                 The Sergeants will take those,

         14  please, the Sergeant-At-Arms. Thank you very much.

         15                 Baruch Weisman. I apologize if I'm

         16  ruining anybody's name. Amanda Masters, and Katrina

         17  McCloud. If those three individuals could please

         18  come to the witness table? Thank you.

         19                 Sir, if you want to start, go right

         20  ahead. Just identify yourself for the record when

         21  you're beginning. If the light is off, the mic is

         22  on.

         23                 MR. WEISMAN: Good afternoon. Thank

         24  you for allowing me to speak. I'm sorry that I

         25  didn't know enough to prepare something written.

                                                            126

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You don't have to.

          3  It's perfectly fine if you haven't. Don't worry

          4  about it.

          5                 MR. WEISMAN: I would like to

          6  introduce myself. I'm Baruch Weisman. I'm a

          7  physician assistant in the Surgical Department

          8  currently at St. Mary's Hospital. I work a graveyard

          9  shift in the Intensive Care Unit, and I do mainly

         10  damage control, whatever happens during the daytime.

         11                 And generally patients make it,

         12  although occasionally when you're in such intense

         13  circumstances you don't.

         14                 I've been working in various

         15  capacities at the hospital, including ambulatory

         16  surgery, general surgical service and in family

         17  practice for five years.

         18                 There was a question about outreach.

         19  Let me talk a little bit about outreach. Before I

         20  went into the training program, I worked for the

         21  City Health Department in leg detection, poisoning

         22  detection and sickle cell detection, going

         23  door-to-door in the Red Hook neighborhood, and we

         24  turned up quite a bit in the early seventies.

         25                 Outreach really is intense, involved,
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          2  complicated and planned effort, and it does have

          3  measurable results and we did have a great reduction

          4  in the number of cases that were reported and we

          5  were able to get groundswell and community

          6  involvement and the clinics started doing general

          7  detection for lead poisoning and sickle cell

          8  screening.

          9                 Okay, now let me just go a little bit

         10  back into my background.

         11                 I started working at the French and

         12  Poly Clinic Hospitals (phonetic) in '74, and we

         13  closed in '76 in bankruptcy, and those buildings

         14  turned into condos and co-ops. I've witnessed the

         15  closure of many hospitals in Brooklyn, including

         16  Midwood, Flatbush General, Lefferts General,

         17  Caledonian, which is now a community vicinity,

         18  Midwood -- I think I mentioned that -- Cumberland,

         19  which became a community facility, other facilities

         20  went into breaking down or were incorporated as

         21  residences.

         22                 Basically that's what I'm afraid is

         23  in store for St. Mary's, okay? Because the land we

         24  occupy is one square block. We have opposite us

         25  another half block, which is a parking lot, in which
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          2  just witnessed the building of a community

          3  residence, or health and mental health challenged

          4  patients, that is the HIV and those with medical, a

          5  mental health diagnosis.

          6                 This was arranged through a paper

          7  transfer of ownership and funding from City, State

          8  and private resources. But who is the health care

          9  provider? Nothing at all involved the plans of

         10  maintaining St. Mary's as the health care provider.

         11  They're going to transfer the health care services

         12  for this facility to the general community or maybe

         13  to the Manhattan facility of St. Mary's.

         14                 We witnessed the turnaround of St.

         15  Vincent's with Speltz and Weiss. We know they're a

         16  high-powered team and we ought to feel gratified

         17  that they took over.

         18                 They're so good, in fact, that they

         19  recently acquired by the Year On Consulting Group,

         20  which is a consortium of consultants in various

         21  disciplines, various manufacturing and financial

         22  resources. So we know that they're worth quite a

         23  lot. And Speltz, by the way, happens to be a good

         24  man, but the point is he just doesn't do it. Because

         25  why? He talked about taking away St. Mary's, but you
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          2  want to know something? They're trying to prop up

          3  St. Clare's. When I worked at Poly Clinic, Poly

          4  Clinic post-graduate medical center in '74, St.

          5  Clare's had been around even before the Poly Clinic

          6  was built. That building goes back almost 100 years.

          7  So, they're trying to prop up a building, which

          8  involves a lot of services, a lot of needs, and St.

          9  Mary's, which is only 20 years old, is already paid

         10  for. The mortgage was paid off with Hill Burton

         11  Funds that went into it.

         12                 It's been amortized more than a year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to

         14  apologize that there's a senior celebration next

         15  door, so the singing, if it's bothering anybody,

         16  they're celebrating senior achievement next door.

         17  So, you should just speak a little louder, and St.

         18  Clare's is in my --

         19                 MR. WEISMAN: Well, after I finish

         20  over here I'm going to go over there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. And St.

         22  Clare's is in my district, I just want to --

         23                 MR. WEISMAN: I'm sorry I'm knocking

         24  it. But what I'm trying to say is, that if we're

         25  talking about trying to save resources, we've got to
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          2  look about what resources we have, what we're trying

          3  to do.

          4                 St. Mary's, let me tell you, I've

          5  worked in the Central Brooklyn area over 27 years in

          6  various capacities. We have a belt stretching from

          7  Interfaith St. John's Episcopal Campus, to St.

          8  Mary's to Kingsbridge Jewish. None of them are

          9  really doing great. Even though Kingsbrook may be in

         10  the black, there are times when it's just teetering

         11  on the verge.

         12                 And the same thing for Interfaith.

         13  There is a lot of lost leaders in Interfaith.

         14                 What I'm proposing is this: Get all

         15  the elected officials, appointed officials and CEOs

         16  of all the hospitals into one room. You have a

         17  committee to close hospitals. Restructure that

         18  committee not to close hospitals, to work with all

         19  of these people together to build up the services

         20  that are strong and strip away the services that are

         21  unneeded and lost leaders for these hospitals.

         22                 St. Johns Episcopal has a

         23  hemodialysis unit, which is well needed, so does

         24  Kingsbrook Jewish. St. John's Episcopal is strong in

         25  Psychiatry, St. Mary's is strong in critical care
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          2  and the medical services and its ER.

          3                 You can just go to each hospital and

          4  pick up on various criteria that your Department or

          5  Health Department can elicit through statistics as

          6  an agent for the State Health Department.

          7                 The State Health Department depends

          8  on the New York City Department of Health to feed in

          9  local statistics on the quality assurance indicators

         10  for all the hospitals in the City.

         11                 You have trained people who can

         12  evaluate on various criteria.

         13                 I know the State did an evaluation of

         14  performance of cardiac care and cardiac surgery at

         15  various hospitals and there is an ongoing effort to

         16  maintain quality assurance indicators, but we need

         17  an effort on the State and the local level in

         18  combination to find out what services to maintain.

         19  Sure I'm saying something radical, we do need to

         20  downsize, but I say we do not need to eliminate St.

         21  Mary's.

         22                 The Catholic Church, which owns the

         23  Corporation which is the Archdiocese of New York,

         24  which owns the St. Vincent's Catholic Medical

         25  Center, so you notice the paper trail. St. Mary's
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          2  was transferred through the Archdiocese -- through

          3  the Diocese of Brooklyn/Queens into the Archdiocese

          4  of Greater New York. It became part of the St.

          5  Vincent's Catholic Medical Center. The paper trail

          6  to build the facility across from the hospital again

          7  is a paper trail, but we all know where it all

          8  leads.

          9                 I'm not trying to knock our

         10  institution, but you all know, this is the way

         11  corporations, chains, entities, are unable to close

         12  it down. The land on which St. Mary's exists is

         13  worth quite a lot for residential development. There

         14  is a tremendous amount of residential development

         15  going up in that area, especially middle-income

         16  houses, going over 200 and 300,000 dollars. Where is

         17  there going to be an upscale hospital or facility

         18  for them to go to?

         19                 We have the chance to improve St.

         20  Mary's. Weiss and Speltz talked about improving

         21  management. What they did was, yes, they turned

         22  around the building arrangements, they turned around

         23  delivery of certain services, but they did not do a

         24  complete job. They did not change management. They

         25  were talking about going into partnership with
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          2  Kingsbrook Jewish. What did Kingsbrook Jewish do?

          3  They changed management at least twice when I was

          4  affiliated with them in '92 and '93. They changed

          5  their nursing management. St. Mary's did not change

          6  their nursing management since I've been there. They

          7  did not change management of any of their

          8  departments. They did not bring in any consultants

          9  to see how they can make the emergency room more

         10  patient-friendly, and offer better customer service.

         11  I'm sorry to say, they did not do a complete job.

         12                 These points were raised to them

         13  repeatedly by various people who have spoken today,

         14  besides myself, and it's only gotten as far as the

         15  room in which they were spoken. It did not take it.

         16                 I think what we need is a resolution

         17  from the City Council to draw attention of the State

         18  to getting better management for all hospitals in

         19  Central Brooklyn. Not only St. Mary's but St. John's

         20  Episcopal, and Kingsbrook Jewish, make them more

         21  transparent.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sir, I hate to do

         23  this but we're beginning to run pretty late now and

         24  I'm actually going to start to lose this room, so if

         25  you could just sum up?
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          2                 MR. WEISMAN: Well, all right.

          3                 So, the two things that I would like

          4  to say are, number one, as a result of all of the

          5  talk that's going on today, a Resolution to

          6  restructure the hospitals in Central Brooklyn, to

          7  deliver outpatient services, to maintain those

          8  inpatient services to which they are stronger.

          9                 And number two, an accounting of all

         10  of the funding that's been going on in the various

         11  hospitals, including St. Mary's, and restructuring

         12  of their facilities.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MS. McCLOUD: Good afternoon, Council

         15  Member Quinn and members of the Health Committee. My

         16  name is Katrina McCloud and I'm a resident of Crown

         17  Heights where St. Mary's Hospital is located.

         18                 My mother and I both have a very

         19  close connection to St. Mary's Hospital because we

         20  both served on St. Mary's Hospital Community

         21  Advisory Board, where my mother served as

         22  Chairperson for many years.

         23                 I was also the very first pediatric

         24  patient to move from the old building into the new

         25  building back in '79.

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 On Friday, April 29th, 2005, I walked

          3  into St. Mary's Hospital and saw a notice posted,

          4  regarding a town hall meeting. The notice was to

          5  inform the employees that Kingsbridge Jewish Medical

          6  Center deal did not go through. At that moment, I

          7  knew something wasn't right.

          8                 Shortly after I ran into a doctor who

          9  stated we need to talk and I replied, "I know, I

         10  just read the notice. Let me know when, where and

         11  I'll be there."

         12                 The following Monday, May 2nd, 2005,

         13  I received a phone call from someone else at the

         14  hospital asking "where are you? We need you."

         15                 From that point on, I knew I was

         16  being called to help fight to save St. Mary's

         17  Hospital.

         18                 The first thought that came to mind

         19  was what was my family going to do if St. Mary's

         20  closed? My mother has been sick lately and she is

         21  very adamant about going to St. Mary's Hospital for

         22  her care.

         23                 At the time of the phone call, my

         24  family was appearing at that time to transfer my

         25  mother from the rehabilitation center to St. Mary's
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          2  Hospital because she was experiencing kidney

          3  failure.

          4                 During the transfer stage, a doctor

          5  at the rehab center asked my mother if she would

          6  like to go to Methodist Hospital for her care. My

          7  mother replied, "You know better. I don't go

          8  anywhere else but to St. Mary's Hospital."

          9                 My mother feels very confident in the

         10  medical staff at St. Mary's Hospital. She suffers

         11  from diabetes, hypertension, poor circulation, and

         12  has had open heart surgery and three strokes, all

         13  within less than a year.

         14                 In addition to my mother, the Crown

         15  Heights community needs St. Mary's Hospital. This

         16  community has a high rate of HIV, diabetes, infant

         17  mortality and asthma, et cetera. St. Mary's Hospital

         18  has programs in place that address all of these

         19  needs.

         20                 Crown Heights is a community on the

         21  rise. There are new buildings, new housing

         22  developments being built throughout the

         23  neighborhood.

         24                 People are moving there because it's

         25  a very central location. So, with the influx of new
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          2  residents coming into the community, we desperately

          3  need a hospital in close proximity.

          4                 We cannot sit back and allow this

          5  hospital to close. That would send a message that we

          6  do not care about the health of the people in the

          7  Crown Heights Community. People should have a

          8  choice. Closing this hospital will also bring the

          9  value of the community down, especially with the

         10  services that St. Vincent's wants to leave behind.

         11  Ambulatory care clinic, methadone clinic and a newly

         12  constructing building for people with mental

         13  disabilities which is being built across the street

         14  from St. Mary's Hospital now.

         15                 Is that all that we think we deserve?

         16  No, we deserve much more than that.

         17                 We deserve to have full acute

         18  services available to our community.

         19                 I feel that the problem is that St.

         20  Vincent's Catholic Medical Center, SVCMC and

         21  Governor Pataki don't care about the poor. That's

         22  why Governor Pataki put together this closure

         23  commission to come into the poor communities and

         24  take one of the most important decisions about

         25  having the right to choose where you want to receive
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          2  your health care services, and it seems that SVCMC

          3  has a minute, the part about good care for all

          4  people, especially the poor, from their mission

          5  statement.

          6                 Because any time you want to close a

          7  hospital, that is one of the best within your

          8  network, means that they really don't care about the

          9  poor.

         10                 I ask that the City Council help us

         11  fight to save St. Mary's Hospital. Please don't let

         12  St. Vincent's Catholic Medical Center and Pataki

         13  close St. Mary's.

         14                 Also, please help to send a letter to

         15  the Commission to the State for the Commission to

         16  have a representation on there from Central

         17  Brooklyn.

         18                 Also attached you see a flyer in

         19  reference to our upcoming candlelight ritual which

         20  will be held on Wednesday, June 22nd. Please come

         21  out and help us support.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         24  much. That's amazing that you are here today

         25  testifying and you were the first pediatric patient
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          2  to be in a new building. That's really, you can't

          3  get more history than that. Thank you.

          4                 If you'd pass the mic on over to the

          5  last witness. Thank you.

          6                 MS. MASTERS: Good afternoon. My name

          7  is Amanda Masters and I'm a staff attorney at New

          8  York Lawyers for the Public Interest, and I'm going

          9  to be very brief. I have written testimony that I

         10  won't go through everything that's in there. I'll

         11  just hit a few key points and basically we have two

         12  suggestions that we came here today to suggest and

         13  it sounds like you all are already on board with at

         14  least one of them which is wonderful.

         15                 NYLPI has an access to health care

         16  program that works to try and ensure access to New

         17  York City, health care access for New York City's

         18  most vulnerable populations, and we've been working

         19  on this sort of thing since the 1970s. And we're

         20  here today with the community to save our hospitals.

         21  You heard from Reverend Delk earlier, and I suppose

         22  I want to emphasize that he brought that giant stack

         23  of petitions with him today, and you can see how

         24  much the community cares about St. Mary's and how

         25  energized people are to fight to save the hospital.
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          2                 I want to start off, I suppose, by

          3  just making a couple of comments based on what we

          4  heard from Mr. Speltz today. One thing he mentioned

          5  a few times was the turnaround plan he came up with

          6  and the modifications to the turnaround plan after

          7  they looked at the numbers again. And a couple of

          8  times he said, well, if you look at the turnaround

          9  plan, blankety blank. The Coalition to Save Our

         10  Hospitals has been requesting a copy of the

         11  turnaround plan for awhile, and it's been refused

         12  multiple times, and very recently, before St. Mary's

         13  announced that they would be submitting a closure

         14  plan, the CEO of St. Mary's, Mr. Patrick Ordell, had

         15  personally promised me to provide me with at least

         16  the portion that pertained to St. Mary's, and then

         17  renegged on that promise right about the time they

         18  announced they were closing.

         19                 So, if the City Council has the

         20  ability to get a hold of that turnaround, then I

         21  think that it might be an interesting document.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Representatives

         23  from St. Vincent's are here still, so we are on the

         24  record formally requesting that, and we will

         25  follow-up with them on that.
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          2                 MS. MASTERS: Great.

          3                 The other thing that was a little

          4  puzzling about the testimony from Mr. Speltz was he

          5  made a couple of references to the need for ten- to

          6  twenty-million dollars per year for the next four

          7  years in order to save the hospital, and that's the

          8  first time I've heard $20 million a year bandied

          9  about.

         10                 In conversations that we had at the

         11  beginning of May, when we first learned directly

         12  from Patrick Ordell that the deal with Kingsbrook

         13  was falling through, I was told that the figure was

         14  $10 million per year for four years and that it was

         15  no surprise to anyone involved, and in fact the

         16  surprise was that the State wasn't willing to help

         17  facilitate that acquisition.

         18                 In the testimony I have some

         19  description that you all are probably more than

         20  aware of, of the medical needs of the communities in

         21  Central Brooklyn, and I won't belabor them, except

         22  to mention a couple of them maybe.

         23                 Obviously, we're all aware of the

         24  fact that a third of the population is under even

         25  the federal poverty guideline, the rate of
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          2  hospitalization in Central Brooklyn. According to

          3  the New York City Department of Health and Mental

          4  Hygiene is over 40 percent higher than the rate of

          5  the rest of the City. The hospitalization rates in

          6  Central Brooklyn for diabetes and asthma are more

          7  than twice as high as they are in the rest of the

          8  City and hospitalization rates for mental illness

          9  are 50 percent greater in the community.

         10                 And there is a litany of statistics

         11  there and they're just a smattering of what's out

         12  there, and despite these staggering figures, since

         13  the 1960s, between 1960 and the Year 2000, there's

         14  already been a 60 percent decrease in the number of

         15  beds in Central Brooklyn, which is a steady decline

         16  that has to have an effect. And, so, it's outrageous

         17  at this time that in an medically underserved area

         18  there is talk of a need to reduce the beds even

         19  more.

         20                 Getting to the two concrete points I

         21  wanted to make: The first one, by way of background,

         22  our office has been watching communities that are

         23  affected, outer borough communities that are

         24  affected by the St. Vincent's decisions to close

         25  down hospitals, and watching the manner in which the

                                                            143

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Department of Health approaches those closure plans,

          3  and we've been troubled by the fact that the plans

          4  we've seen regarding Bayley Seton and St. Joe's

          5  really didn't articulate much in the way of a plan,

          6  and were approved by the Department of Health

          7  nonetheless.

          8                 For instance, there are 72

          9  neurobehavioral beds that were closed last year at

         10  the Bayley Seton Hospital, that were supposed to be

         11  transferred to St. Mary's. Where are they going now?

         12                 And if the Department of Health is

         13  going to rubber stamp closure plans that don't have

         14  much of a plan and then not doublecheck to see

         15  whether or not those plans are actually being

         16  carried through, then what is the Department of

         17  Health doing. So, our first request to the City

         18  Council would be to look at that and to speak up to

         19  the Department of Health now at this critical

         20  timeline.  In the next few weeks they may be

         21  approving yet another closure plan that's hard to

         22  imagine that it could be an adequate closure plan.

         23                 The Public Health Law requires the

         24  Commissioner of the Department of Health to look at

         25  some factors before they approve the plan, and one
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          2  of the factors is the public need for services

          3  provided by the facility that wants to close. So we

          4  would suggest that the City Council do something,

          5  whether it be a joint letter or a resolution or

          6  something to communicate to the State that the need

          7  here, the public need is huge, and already unmet and

          8  cannot be picked up by surrounding hospitals.

          9                 The second request is something that

         10  other folks have already talked about. This

         11  Commission on Health Care Facilities that Pataki has

         12  apparently single-handedly created, that is mostly

         13  people from Upstate or Western New York, one

         14  gentlemen from Wisconsin, well, yeah, and the only

         15  person who appears to be from Downstate is Bishop

         16  Joseph Sullivan who is on the St. Vincent's Board.

         17  And we would suggest that the City Council speak up

         18  about that and complain about the fact that New York

         19  City, Brooklyn, communities of color, and

         20  medically-underserved neighborhoods have no

         21  representation in that Board.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         23  James.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Ms. Masters, is

         25  there any legal basis for challenging this closure?
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          2                 MS. MASTERS: That's a wonderful

          3  question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          5                 MS. MASTERS: I think I might be

          6  constrained by attorney/client privilege, a work

          7  product privilege, from going too far. But we are

          8  looking at options.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         10                 MS. MASTERS: Yes.

         11                 MR. WEISMAN: Excuse me. May I make an

         12  attempt also? I'm just wondering whether, since I

         13  questioned transparency of spending, since there are

         14  federal funds going into the systems, and since

         15  there are state funds going into the systems, there

         16  should be a more public accounting for them. And

         17  perhaps you may even have to resort to getting an

         18  injunction to hold further changes or

         19  implementations or progress in implementations of

         20  any plans, whether it's against the State, Health

         21  Department, or against the Governor's Commission or

         22  against the SVCMC, be it what it may. I don't know

         23  what entity would have to generate that, whether it

         24  would have to come from the community, or whether

         25  the City Council has any type of authority to
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          2  generate that type of activity through the local

          3  supreme court.

          4                 I know there is precedence for it

          5  because I know I've read in the papers about City

          6  Council getting injunctions against various mayoral

          7  or executive types of tendencies or desires, so I

          8  would suggest that maybe City Council look into that

          9  also, if it wants to make it go that far.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         11                 And Ms. Masters, if, in fact, you

         12  filed any litigation, I would hope that the City

         13  Council would join you in an amicus brief. And if

         14  not, the City Council as a body, I'm sure members of

         15  City Council, would sign the amicus brief in support

         16  of it.

         17                 And to Ms. McCloud, you and your

         18  mother have been advocates and activists in Central

         19  Brooklyn and your mom is in my thoughts and my

         20  prayers always, and I will be visiting her soon.

         21                 And to the Chair, hopefully we can

         22  hold another hearing, hopefully we can hold a

         23  hearing in Central Brooklyn, preferably at Medgar

         24  Evers, on this issue. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yeah, I just want
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          2  to say, you know, I think the idea of having a

          3  hearing in Brooklyn is an excellent one. You know,

          4  the Council doesn't have hearings in July and

          5  August, so we could wait til September, or we could

          6  have one in July or August that isn't an official

          7  hearing.

          8                 MR. WEISMAN: Excuse me. The proposed

          9  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You're a little

         11  bit of an interrupter. You need to work on that.

         12                 MR. WEISMAN: Sorry.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It's a problem

         14  more for men than women.

         15                 So, we'll decide collectively when

         16  we're going to have one. It might be September, we

         17  don't know. We'll let you know the date. If you sign

         18  -- you should make sure you see David so he can get

         19  your name and address and fax and e-mail and we'll

         20  send you the date. I think that's an excellent idea.

         21                 Go ahead.

         22                 MR. WEISMAN: Okay. The proposed date

         23  for closure of St. Mary's is before or on September

         24  1st.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, great.
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          2                 So, go ahead, Ma'am, absolutely.

          3                 MS. McCLOUD: I would just like to

          4  add, I'm also the Chairperson for the Neighborhood

          5  Advisory Board, Brooklyn 8.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Great.

          7                 MS. McCLOUD: And we're planning on

          8  July 14th to hold a public speakout. So, maybe

          9  everyone from the Council can come and sit on that

         10  board as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's a good

         12  idea.

         13                 MS. McCLOUD: We thought it was very

         14  important for the community to come and speak out to

         15  the elected officials, and have members from St.

         16  Vincent's to come as well and let them know that

         17  it's very important how much the hospital needs to

         18  stay in our community.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If we could make

         20  sure that David or Ann have your contact info, and

         21  maybe that is the way for us to go. So, we'll get

         22  that info from you.

         23                 MS. McCLOUD: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And then the

         25  Brooklyn members, myself, we'll all talk
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          2  collectively. Actually, that might be perfect. There

          3  is no need necessarily to recreate the wheel if

          4  something is happening already.

          5                 Council Member Stewart.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What is the

          7  date and time and place?

          8                 MS. McCLOUD: July 14th, which is a

          9  Thursday, at 7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. It was

         10  originally going to be held at Medgar Evers in June,

         11  but with the Assembly being mandated to stay in

         12  Albany, we had to change it to July and we were

         13  looking to hold it within our community which is at

         14  Bereen Missionary Baptist Church.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Are you

         16  giving an invocation?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: All right, we're

         18  all getting a little slap happy now so we're going

         19  to adjourn. Thank you all very much for your time

         20  and patience and work.

         21                 MS. McCLOUD: Thank you.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 5:00 p.m.)
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